Public Document Pack

Hampshire
o County Councll
EXECUTIVE DECISION DAY NOTICE

Executive Lead Member for Children's Services Decision Day &
Executive Member for Education Decision Day

Date and Time Thursday 19th October 2023 at 3.00pm
Place Remote Decision Day
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk

Carolyn Williamson FCPFA
Chief Executive
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ

FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION
This decision day is being held remotely and will be recorded and broadcast live via the

County Council’s website.
AGENDA

EXECUTIVE LEAD MEMBER FOR CHILDREN'S SERVICES
DEPUTATIONS

To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12.
KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL)

None Applicable
NON KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL)

1. PERMISSION TO CONSULT ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO POST-16
POLICY (Pages 3-18)

To receive a report from the Director of Children’s Services advising the
Executive Leader Member of Children’s Services on proposed changes
to the Hampshire County Council Post-16 Transport Policy Statement for
2024, and to seek permission to consult on these changes.

2.  PERMISSION TO CONSULT ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO SCHOOL
TRANSPORT POLICY (Pages 19 - 54)

To receive a report from the Director of Children’s Services advising the
Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services on proposed changes to
the Hampshire County Council School Transport Policy. The report seeks
permission to consult on the changes to the School Transport Policy.



EXECUTIVE MEMBER FOR EDUCATION
DEPUTATIONS
To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12.
KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL)
None Applicable
NON KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL)
3. ADDITIONAL SPECIALIST EDUCATION PROVISION (Pages 55 - 70)

To receive a report from the Director of Children’s Services seeking the
Executive Leader Member of Children’s Services approval to consult on
the establishment of a SEND satellite provision run by Riverside
Community Special School, Waterlooville on the site of Mill Hill Primary
School, Waterlooville.

4. SCHOOL TERM AND HOLIDAY DATES FOR 2025-26, 2026-27 AND
2027-28 (Pages 71 - 86)

To receive a report from the Director of Children’s Services seeking the
Executive Member for Education decide the pattern of school term and
holiday dates for the school years 2025-26, 2026-27 and 2027-28, note
some changes to this process adopted by the County Council and to note
the outcomes of the consultation process that has been followed.

ABOUT THIS AGENDA:

On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages.

ABOUT THIS SESSION:

The press and public are welcome to observe the public sessions of the
decision day via the webcast.



Agenda ltem 1

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services
Date: 19 October 2023
Title: Permission to Consult on Proposed Changes to Post-16

Transport Policy

Report From: Director of Children’s Services

Contact name: Jon Bramley, Head of School Transport

Tel: 0370 779 3077 Email: Jon.Bramley@hants.gov.uk

Purpose of this Report

1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Executive Leader Member of
Children’s Services on proposed changes to the Hampshire County Council
Post-16 Transport Policy Statement (the Policy) for 2024, and to seek
permission to consult on these changes.

Recommendation(s)

2. That the Executive Lead Member of Children’s Services gives approval to
proceed with a public consultation on the proposed changes to the Policy,
with a further report to determine the Post-16 Transport Policy Statement for
2024 to be presented at a future Executive Member Decision Day by 31 May
2024.

Executive Summary

3. The County Council is required by law to consult on its Post-16 Transport
Policy every year. This report seeks permission from the Executive Lead
Member to consult on proposed changes to the Policy for students, including
those with special educational needs.

4. There is no automatic entitlement to local authority funded school or college
transport once a student is over the age of 16. The County Council has
considered its resources and the travel to college opportunities for students.
Students can attend a college or school of choice and, if needed, apply to
their education provider’'s student support for assistance.

5. The County Council recognises that some families may need a transport
service to ensure that 16+ students with special needs or disabilities can
access an education placement that is suitable for their needs and so do
offer, under discretionary powers, a transport service that requires an annual

Page 3



o

parental contribution.

The proposed changes to the Policy, as outlined in Paragraphs 10 — 24, are:

e Annual increase in parental contributions in line with the Consumer Price
Index

¢ Update to the wording of the Independent Travel Training section

e Explanation of Appeal and Complaints Process

e Minor amendments to wording for clarity.

The proposed changes are intended to align Post-16 Policy with DfE statutory
guidance and terminology used within the School Transport Policy, and so
that charges rise in line with the increase in the cost of transport provision for
Post-16 students.

The Policy would continue to allow for parental contribution charges to be
waived when parents/carers are on a low income, in receipt of certain benefits
or if the student is in receipt of free school meals. Families with exceptional
circumstances can also apply for a discretionary waiver or reduction in
parental contributions.

In 2022/23, for approximately 76.7% of Post 16 eligible students, the parental
contribution was waived due to low income, in receipt of benefits, free school
meals or exceptional circumstances.

Proposed Policy Changes

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Parental Contributions Uplift (September 2024, and annually): The
County Council proposes an increase in the parental contributions to Post-16
transport arrangements in line with inflation (Consumer Price Index (CPI))
from September 2024, with inflation-linked increases applied in subsequent
years.

The Policy outlines the level of contribution that will be applied to Post-16
transport but does not currently allow for contributions to be uplifted each
year.

Transport costs have risen significantly above inflation over the last year and
the County Council has experienced this cost pressure. The average cost per
student for post-16 transport has increased by 27.1% during this time to a
total of £3.7m across the Service.

It is proposed that contributions are uplifted in line with CPI each year, and
the wording will be changed in the Policy to reflect this.

If this proposal is approved following consultation, an inflationary increase
would be applied to the contribution for Post-16 transport arrangements. This
would be applied in September 2024 and to subsequent academic years in
line with inflation (CPI).

Page 4



15. This proposal will result in an increase in the amount of parental contribution
received but this will only partially offset the rise in costs already experienced
and funded by the County Council. Parents would continue to contribute
towards the costs of the transport arrangement, with the County Council
funding the remaining amount as in previous years.

16. If the County Council were to continue to absorb the increased cost of the
transport arrangements, this would impact and reduce the limited resources
available for other essential services for vulnerable children.

17. The County Council offer the facility to pay Post 16 parental contributions in
instalments on a termly basis.

18. For 76.7% of Post 16 eligible students in 2022/2023, the parental contribution
was waived due to low income, in receipt of benefits, free school meals or
exceptional circumstances. Parental contributions will continue to be waived
under such circumstances in 2024/25.

19. The County Council works to limit the spend on school transport wherever
possible, whilst ensuring statutory requirements continue to be met. There are
robust procurement processes in place where the School Transport Service
regularly review contracts to optimise and obtain best value. The County
Council also continue to work with central government to maximise funding
for vulnerable young people, and to ensure the challenges in respect of the
increasing spend on local authority funded school transport is recognised
nationally.

20. |If this proposal is approved following consultation, an inflationary increase
would be applied to the existing contributions. This would be applied in
September 2024 in line with the CPI rate for March 2024, and then annually
each September, based on the CPI rate in March of that calendar year.

21. Toillustrate how this would be calculated, the table below shows the existing
parental contributions for Post-16 transport, and the value of these
contributions if they were to be uplifted by the latest rate of CPI (6.7% based
on the 12 months to August 2023).

Distance to 2023/24 2023/24 Proposed Proposed
travel Annual Termly 2024/25 2024/25
charge charge Annual Termly
charge charge
Up to 5 miles £783.19 £261.06 £835.66 £278.55
501t07.5 £1,084.72 £361.57 £1,157.40 £385.80
miles
7.51to 10 miles | £1,519.39 £506.46 £1,621.19 £540.39
Over 10 miles £1,736.07 £578.69 £1,852.39 £617.46

Page 5



22. Independent Travel Training: The County Council proposes updating the
language, wording and level of detail regarding Independent Travel Training
within Section 7 of the Post-16 Transport Policy Statement, to bring it in line
with the proposed changes in the School Transport Policy.

23. Explanation of Appeal and Complaints Process: The County Council
proposes to update the Policy to improve the explanation of the Appeal and
Complaints processes, bringing it in line with improvements to the wording in
the proposed School Transport Policy which have been drafted based on the
latest DfE statutory guidance.

24. Minor amendments to wording for clarity: The County Council proposes to
make minor amendments to the wording within the Policy for better clarity.
These include:

To add: 2. General Transport Available — The following link provides the
information supplied by colleagues and sixth form establishments.’
Update to ‘Other transport support’ section and remove the link to ‘Brain in
Hand’ as this is not relevant to the Policy.

Any other minor changes to wording to improve clarity.

Contextual information

25. The Policy details the offer for sixth form age students aged 16 - 19 and adult
students with an Education Health and Care Plan or a disability to the age of
25. The proposed Policy Statement explains that the County Council will
provide local authority funded transport, when it is necessary, to facilitate
attendance. It also explains, that where the young person is aged under 18,
the expectation of the County Council is that parents or carers will be
responsible for transporting their child, but individual circumstances of
families will be considered when making eligibility decisions.

26. The Policy Statement is determined within a statutory timetable before the
end of May each calendar year.

Finance

27. The current expenditure on school transport is just over £50 million per
annum for the 2022/23 financial year, of which £3.7 million was spent on
Post-16 transport assistance. Expenditure has risen by 47% from £34 million
per annum in the previous financial year.

28. Within this context, the costs associated with Post 16 transport have
increased by 27.1% over the last financial year.

29. The County Council currently fund a high proportion of the cost of Post 16
transport arrangement from revenue budgets, with parental contributions
funding the remaining proportion. Whilst the County Council will continue to
fund the majority of this cost, absorbing the increased cost of the transport
arrangements would impact and reduce the limited resources available for

Page 6



30.

31.

32.

other essential services for vulnerable children.

The County Council offer the facility to pay Post 16 parental contributions in
instalments on a termly basis.

For 76.7% of Post 16 eligible students in 2022/2023, the parental contribution
was waived due to low income, in receipt of benefits, free school meals or
exceptional circumstances. Parental contributions will continue to be waived
under such circumstances.

The County Council work to limit the spend on school transport wherever
possible, whilst ensuring statutory requirements continue to be met. There are
robust procurement processes in place where the School Transport Service
regularly review contracts to optimise and obtain best value. Hampshire
County Council also continue to work with central government to maximise
funding for vulnerable young people, and to ensure the challenges in respect
of the increasing spend on local authority funded school transport is
recognised nationally.

Consultation and Equalities

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

The consultation would seek views on the proposed changes to the Policy.

Consultation on the Policy will be separate to the overall School Transport
Policy consultation; however the intention is that it will run in parallel against
the same timescales.

It is proposed that the consultation lasts for 35 working days during term time,
commencing from 30 October 2023 to 15 December 2023. During this time,
views would be sought, including those of service users, their parents,
providers, schools and other stakeholders.

The consultation would be published online on the County Council’s website
at: Consultations | About the Council | Hampshire County Council
(hants.gov.uk). Responses to the consultation could be made by calling,
emailing or writing to the school transport service. Details would be provided
on the above website and the School Transport website.

Communications to service users, parents, schools and other stakeholders to
inform them of the proposed changes and provide opportunities to contribute
their views would be made through multiple channels by the County Council.

If the recommendation to proceed to public consultation on the proposed
changes is agreed, a further report would be brought to the Executive Lead
Member for Children’s Services by 31 May 2024 to share the findings of the
consultation.

An initial Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is provided in
Appendix A. Outcomes from the consultation would also be used to complete

Page 7


https://www.hants.gov.uk/consultations
https://www.hants.gov.uk/consultations

an Equality Impact Assessment, presented to the Executive Lead Member for
Children’s Services.

Recommendations

40.

That the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services:

Gives approval to proceed with a public consultation on the proposed
changes to the Post-16 Policy Statement for 2024, with a further report setting
out the findings of the consultation to be presented at a future Executive
Member Decision Day, by 31 May 2024.

Climate Change Impact Assessment

41.

42.

43.

Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the
carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These
tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects,
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2°C
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change
considerations are built into everything the County Council does.

The carbon mitigation tool and climate change adaptation tool were not
applicable because the decision relates to the annual determination of a
statutory policy for determining the eligibility for local authority funded
transport assistance for students aged 16 to 25. This is the first administrative
step in meeting the duty to support post-16 students’ journeys to and from
their educational setting as it will ensure that help is provided when it is
necessary to facilitate attendance.

The policy is important for meeting Hampshire County Councils’ strategic
priorities as it provides an opportunity for local authority funded transport that
enables young people to get a good start in life and assists in overcoming
inequality. Also, the Post 16 Transport Policy Statement helps people with
special educational needs and/or a disability to find and access support within
the community.

Equality Impact Assessment

44.

Outcomes from the consultation would be used to complete an Equality
Impact Assessment, presented to the Executive Lead Member for Children’s
Services as part of the consultation final report.

Page 8



REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic | Yes
growth and prosperity:

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent | Yes
lives:

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse No
environment:
People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, No

inclusive communities:

OR

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a
decision because:

Other Significant Links

Links to previous Member decisions:

Title Date
Determination of Post 16 Transport Policy Statement 2023 11 May 2023
Determination of Post 16 Transport Policy Statement 2023 23 March 2023
(Decision Record)

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives

Title Date
Post-16 transport and travel support to education and training January 2019
(publishing.service.gov.uk)

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in
the Act.)

Document Location
None

Page 9



https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s107569/Decision%20Report%20-%20Determination%20of%20Post%2016%20Transport%20Policy%20Statement%202023.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s93526/Decision%20Record.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s93526/Decision%20Record.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/772913/Post16_transport_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/772913/Post16_transport_guidance.pdf

Appendix A
Equality Impact Assessment

What is an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) and why does the County Council
do them?

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) is an obligation within the Equality Act
2010 (“the Act”), which asks public authorities, like Hampshire County Council, to
give ‘due regard’ to equality considerations, in particular to:

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.

- Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

- Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

This includes assessing the impact of policies and practices on individuals and
communities with a protected characteristic, as defined in the Act and some other
specific groups. The County Council uses ElAs to ensure it has paid ‘due regard’
to equalities considerations when there are changes to a service or policy, a new
project or certain decisions.

Title: Permission to Consult on Proposed Changes to Post-16 Transport Policy
(Oct 2023)

Related ElAs:
EIA for Savings Programme: No
Service affected School Transport - Post 16

Description of the service/policy/project/project phase: The provision of
transport to an education setting for young people who are older than school age
is not a statutory requirement. Hampshire County Council have exercised
discretion beyond the statutory requirement to offer transport assistance to young
people between 16 and 18 years old who have an Education Health Care Plans
(EHCP) or disability.

The current expenditure on school transport is just over £50 million per annum for
the 2022/23 financial year, of which £3.7 million was spent on Post-16 transport
assistance. Expenditure has risen by 47% from £34 million per annum in the
previous financial year. The County Council currently fund a high proportion of the
cost of Post 16 transport arrangement from revenue budgets, with parental
contributions funding the remaining proportion. Whilst the County Council will
continue to fund the majority of this cost, absorbing the increased cost of the
transport arrangements would impact and reduce the limited resources available
for other essential services for vulnerable children. For 76.7% of Post 16 eligible
students in 2022/2023, the parental contribution was waived due to low income, in

Page 10



receipt of benefits, free school meals or exceptional circumstances. Parental
contributions will continue to be waived under such circumstances.

The County Council works to limit the spend on school transport wherever
possible, whilst ensuring statutory requirements continue to be met. There are
robust procurement processes in place where the School Transport Service
regularly review contracts to optimise and obtain best value. Hampshire County
Council also continue to work with central government to maximise funding for
vulnerable young people, and to ensure the challenges in respect of the
increasing spend on local authority funded school transport is recognised
nationally.

The Policy Statement details when and how the Council will support attendance in
Post 16 education where travel/transport is perceived as a barrier. It allows
parents/carers and users to understand how young people aged over 16 with an
EHCP or a disability aged over 16 and in education may be eligible for a local
authority funded transport service. The external (supplier) costs of providing
transport to post 16 learners increased by 27.1% over the last financial year as a
result of a shortage of drivers, decreased competition in the transport market and
increased fuel costs.

This EIA supports a report to the Executive Member which seeks permission to
consult on proposed changes to the Post-16 Transport Policy Statement, with the
statement due to be published by 31 May 2024 as per statutory requirements.

New/changed service/policy/project The County Council would be consulting
on the following changes:

1) An annual increase in parental contributions in line with the Consumer Price
Index

The County Council proposes an increase in the parental contributions to Post-16
transport arrangements in line with inflation (Consumer Price Index (CPI)) from
September 2024, with inflation-linked increases applied in subsequent years. The
Policy outlines the level of contribution that will be applied to Post-16 transport but
does not currently allow for contributions to be uplifted each year.

If this proposal is approved following consultation, an inflationary increase would
be applied to the contribution for Post-16 transport arrangements. This would be
applied in September 2024 and to subsequent academic years in line with
inflation (CPI) based on the CPI rate for March each year. This proposal will result
in an increase in the amount of parental contribution received but this will only
partially offset the rise in costs already experienced and funded by the County
Council. Parents would continue to contribute towards the costs of the transport
arrangement, with the County Council funding the remaining amount as in
previous years.

Page 11



To illustrate, the annual parental contribution for a journey to school/college of
between 5 and 7.5 miles was £1,084.72 for the 2023/24 school year. If these
contributions were to be uplifted by the latest CPI rate (6.7% based on the 12
months to August 2023), this contribution would increase to £1,157.40 for the
2024/25 financial year.

For 76.7% of Post 16 eligible students in 2022/2023, the parental contribution was
waived due to low income, in receipt of benefits, free school meals or exceptional
circumstances. Parental contributions will continue to be waived under such
circumstances in 2024/25.

2) Update to the wording of the Independent Travel Training section

The County Council proposes updating the language, wording and level of detail
regarding Independent Travel Training within Section 7 of the Post-16 Transport
Policy Statement, to bring it in line with the proposed changes in the School
Transport Policy.

3) Explanation of Appeal and Complaints Process

The County Council proposes to update the Policy to improve the explanation of

the Appeal and Complaints processes, bringing it in line with improvements to the
wording in the proposed School Transport Policy which have been drafted based
on the latest DfE statutory guidance.

4) Minor amendments to wording for clarity.

The County Council proposes to make minor amendments to the wording within
the Policy for better clarity. These include:

- To add: ‘2. General Transport Available — The following link provides the
information supplied by colleagues and sixth form establishments.’

- Update to ‘Other transport support’ section and remove the link to ‘Brain in Hand'
as this is not relevant to the Policy

- Any other minor changes to wording to improve clarity
Engagement

The County Council proposes to carry out a public consultation designed to give
Hampshire residents and wider stakeholders the opportunity to have their say
about proposed changes to the Post-16 Transport Policy. The consultation is due
to run from late October 2023 to mid-December 2023. Communications promoting
the consultation will include a press release, details on the Council’'s website,
communications sent to schools, emails to existing service users and post-16
settings and an email to County Councillors. The consultation will also be
promoted via the Council’'s Facebook and Twitter social media channels

Equalities considerations - Impact Assessment

Age

Page 12



Impact on public Negative - Medium
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The established policy and legislation, from 2021 affects learners at specific ages
differently, particularly those aged 16 on 1st September 2024 and those aged 17
on that date, although only until their 18th birthday. Therefore, the impact on age
identified here is in respect to the legislative requirements and the subsequent
considerations made by Hampshire County Council (HCC) when deciding on the
support necessary in relation to travel and transport to facilitate a young person’s
attendance at their place of education.

As a young person becomes a Post 16 learner, HCC considers transport support
is only necessary if it is essential to enable them to attend their programme of
study. If the young person is able to access other forms of travel, support/funding,
and has the available means to access their education setting, then they would be
expected to use these in the first instance.

Mitigation

Where transport is necessary to facilitate attendance, the Council will provide
transport assistance. Each young person will be considered on a case by case
basis to ensure provision reflects actual need with the contribution waived for
learners from families in receipt of income based benefits or who are on a low
income.

Disability

Impact on public: Negative - High
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The vast majority of young people over the age of 16 in education will attend
placements which are accessible from their home address. However, where a
young person or a family member (with responsibility for the young person) has
Special Educational Need and Disability (SEND), a health issue/concern, or
disability this may make accessing an education placement difficult or impossible
without HCC providing support with travel/transport arrangements. The proposed
policy change concerns provision for this cohort of learners (and their families)
and recognises the potential impacts on this protected characteristic.

HCC ensure support is available if it is considered necessary in order for the
young person to attend their education placement / training. Where possible and
where appropriate, HCC will support young people to use public transport and
make their own journeys independently, and will expect parents to provide
transport assistance.

Page 13



Mitigation

Hampshire County Council recognises that families may need a transport service
to ensure that 16+ special needs or disabled students can access a place that is
suitable for their needs and so do offer a transport service, under discretionary
powers. The transport arrangements require a parental contribution. This can be
paid in instalments on a termly or monthly basis if required. The Post 16 2023
Policy will continue to allow for parental contribution charges to be waived when
parents/ carers are on a low income, in receipt of certain benefits or if the student
is in receipt of free school meals. Families with exceptional circumstances can
also apply for a discretionary waiver or reduction in parental contributions.

Gender Reassignment
Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The School Transport service is provided based on geography, safety of route
and on some occasions, the special educational needs of the eligible child. There
is no identified impact based on gender reassignment and therefore the impact
has been assessed as neutral.

Pregnancy and Maternity
Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The School Transport service is provided based on geography, safety of route
and on some occasions, the special needs of the eligible child. There is no
identified impact on this characteristic and therefore the impact has been
assessed as neutral.

Race

Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The School Transport service is provided based on geography, safety of route
and on some occasions, the special needs of the eligible child. There is no
identified impact based on race and therefore the impact has been assessed as
neutral.

Religion or Belief

Impact on public: Neutral

Page 14



Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The school transport service is provided based on geography, safety of route and
on some occasions, the special needs of the eligible child. There is no identified
impact based on religion or belief and therefore the impact has been assessed as
neutral.

Sex

Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The school transport service is provided based on geography, safety of route and
on some

occasions, the special needs of the eligible child. There is no identified impact
based on this characteristic and therefore the impact has been assessed as
neutral.

Sexual Orientation
Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The school transport service service is provided based on geography, safety of
route and on some occasions, the special needs of the eligible child. There is no
identified impact based on sexual orientation and therefore the impact has been
assessed as neutral.

Marriage and Civil Partnership
Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The school transport service is provided based on geography, safety of route and
on some

occasions, the special needs of the eligible child. There is no identified impact
based on this characteristic and therefore the impact has been assessed as
neutral.

Poverty

Impact on public: Negative - Medium

Page 15



Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

The school transport service is provided based on geography, safety of route and
on some

occasions, the special needs of the eligible child. HCC recognises there is a
potential intersectionality link between disability and/or SEN and poverty
characteristics. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation report - UK Poverty 2022
identified: “The poverty rate for individuals who live in families where someone is
disabled is 31%, 12 percentage points higher than those who live in families
where no-one is disabled. Of all families in poverty, just under half contain
someone who is disabled, compared with 3 in 10 of families not in poverty.” and
“A key driver of the higher poverty rate is the lower employment rate both for
disabled people and in families where someone is disabled. Among families
where someone is disabled, the workless rate is 26%, compared with 10% of
families where no-one is disabled. Among those families who are working, 17% of
those where someone is disabled only work part-time, compared with 11% where
no-one is disabled.”

The Post 16 2023 Policy will continue to allow for parental contribution charges to
be waived when parents/ carers are on a low income, in receipt of certain benefits
or if the student is in receipt of free school meals. Families with exceptional
circumstances can also apply for a discretionary waiver or reduction in parental
contributions.

On this basis, the impact based on this characteristic has been assessed as
negative - medium.

Mitigation

The charge is waived where the child's parent(s) receive income-based benefits
or are on a low income. Currently the charge is waived for 77% of parents. This
proportion should not be affected by this change.

Families with a low income, but not in receipt of the above benefits, where the
imposition of the charge would reduce their income to around £16,190; or those
with exceptional circumstances, may apply for a discretionary waiver or reduction
in charge.

Where a charge is made parents have the option to pay the annual charge in
termly instalments, each of 1/3 of the total.

Rurality
Impact on public: Negative - Medium
Impact on staff: Neutral

Rationale

Page 16



Families living in rural areas often face a longer journey in terms of distance and
journey times to access Post 16 provision. Public transport may be a more
restricted offer. The longer journey and restricted public transport may limit
families’ capacity to support their child's travel. As journeys from rural areas will
tend to be longer, the cost of providing transport for young people from rural areas
are greater on average. Therefore the charges are grouped into four bands based
on distance. Due to the longer distances, rural families will be more likely to be in
a higher band with a higher charge.

Mitigation

Where transport is necessary to facilitate attendance, the Council will provide
transport assistance. Each young person will be considered on a case-by-case
basis, including the proposed journey and any limitations on infrastructure, to
ensure provision reflects actual need. The Post 16 Policy will continue to allow for
parental contribution charges to be waived when parents/ carers are on a low
income, in receipt of certain benefits or if the student is in receipt of free school
meals. Families with exceptional circumstances can also apply for a discretionary
waiver or reduction in parental contributions.

Geographical Impact: All Hampshire
Equality Statement
Additional information:

The updates to wording (including Independent Travel Training, Appeal and
Complaints process and other minor wording changes) will improve the clarity of
the policy and will not change how the service is delivered. Any impacts relate to
the proposed increase in parental contributions.

This EIA principally focuses on assessing the impacts of the proposed change on
the public with no proposed changes to staff working terms and conditions,
therefore the impact on staff has been assessed as neutral throughout.

Overview Statement:

A summary assessment to show that due regard to the Public Sector Equality
Duty has been paid, which is undertaken when a full EIA is not needed:

EIA reference number: 00483

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services
Date: 19 October 2023
Title: Permission to Consult on Proposed Changes to School

Transport Policy

Report From: Director of Children’s Services

Contact name: Jon Bramley, Head of School Transport

Tel: 0370 779 3077 Email: Jon.Bramley@hants.gov.uk

Purpose of this Report

1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Executive Lead Member for
Children’s Services on proposed changes to the Hampshire County Council
School Transport Policy. The report seeks permission to consult on the
changes to the School Transport Policy.

Recommendation(s)

2. That the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services:
Gives approval to proceed with a public consultation on the proposed
changes to the School Transport Policy with a further report setting out the
findings of the consultation to be presented at a future Executive Member
Decision Day in the first quarter of the 2024 financial year.

Executive Summary

3. This report seeks permission from the Executive Lead Member to consult on
proposed changes to the School Transport Policy for children, including those
with special educational needs.

4. The proposed changes to the School Transport Policy outlined in the five
proposals (paragraphs 15 to 59) would enable the County Council to be better
able to provide flexible transport arrangements for children that respond to
their changing needs, demand and external market pressures. The proposed
changes would also bring the School Transport Policy in line with the updated
Department for Education statutory guidance on Travel to School for Children
of Compulsory School Age.

5. The current expenditure on school transport is just over £50 million per
annum for the 2022/23 financial year. Expenditure has risen by 47% from £34

Page 19


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1165730/Travel_to_school_for_children_of_compulsory_school_age.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1165730/Travel_to_school_for_children_of_compulsory_school_age.pdf

9.

million per annum in the previous financial year.

The School Transport Service is under substantial budget pressure. The rise
in the number of children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
(SEND) requiring transport and significant national issues with the external
transport market have led to the significant rise in expenditure.

If the proposals set out in the consultation are approved, changes would be
implemented across the 2024 financial year.

The County Council is not proposing to change eligibility criteria for School
Transport or to remove the service from existing service users. Regardless of
any decisions made, the County Council would continue to meet its statutory
requirements in respect of school transport.

There are no expected savings as a result of any of the proposals.

Contextual and background information

10. The County Council provides transport assistance for eligible children to

11.

12.

attend school. This statutory service is largely provided to Hampshire children
attending their catchment or nearest suitable school but living over two or
three miles (depending on age) from school, as well as specialist school
transport for children with Special Education Needs, a disability or mobility
problems. Transport assistance is provided where children meet national
eligibility criteria.

Expenditure on school transport has increased by £16 million from £34 million
in 2021/ 22 to over £50 million in 2022/23. There are several factors that have
contributed to these increasing costs:

¢ Nationally, the number of Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) for
children with SEND has been increasing at a rate of over 10% per annum
since 2014. A rise in EHCPs typically leads to a rise in demand for
transport. This is resulting in higher demand for transport overall, and at
times, a requirement for more complex travel arrangements.

e There is a higher demand for specialist school places, which are spread
over a wider geographical area and require more specialist travel
arrangements to ensure the needs of children are met.

e External market factors affecting the transport market have meant that
costs have risen significantly for operators, and the costs are being
passed on to the County Council.

The purpose of the proposed changes to the Policy, outlined in paragraphs 15
to 59, is to enable the County Council to provide flexible transport
arrangements that can respond to children’s changing needs, demand and
external market pressures as well as updating the Policy to reflect the
updated Department for Education travel to school for children of compulsory
school age statutory guidance.

Page 20



Regulation/ statutory duties

13.

It is the responsibility of the local authority under the Education Act 1996 to
provide school transport, free of charge, for children of compulsory school
age in certain circumstances as prescribed by the legislation.

Proposed Policy Changes

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

The Policy changes which the County Council proposes to consult on are set
out in paragraphs 15 to 59.

Proposal One: For Personal Transport Budgets (PTB) to be available to
families where a child’s needs or circumstances mean that suitable
transport is difficult to find, or not available at all, in the local operator
market.

For the large majority of eligible children, traditional ways of providing
Transport Assistance are successful at making their journey to school safe
and without undue stress, strain or difficulty. However, in some situations
more flexibility is needed.

Sometimes there are situations where a child’s needs or circumstances mean
that suitable transport is difficult to find, or not available at all, in the local
operator market. For example, a child may require an adapted vehicle that is
not available locally, or require skilled support tailored to their individual
needs. In those cases, the County Council would like the ability to offer
parents a PTB to enable them to make suitable travel arrangements for
transport and/or passenger assistant support.

The current Policy includes a range of options to assist eligible children to
travel to school. Parents can currently choose to accept a Parental Mileage
Allowance to cover costs with approximately 350 eligible children currently
travelling this way.

Introducing a PTB would offer flexible options for families to make suitable
travel arrangements tailored to a child’s individual needs.

A PTB may be explored at the request of a parent, schools or where the
County Council thinks it could be suitable. The parent would not be obliged to
accept a PTB and the arrangement would only be put in place where it is
agreed between the County Council and the parent as the best means of
supporting them.

The PTB would be paid directly to the parent/to enable them to make suitable
travel arrangements for transport and/or passenger assistant support. The
PTB would replace the children’s existing travel arrangement.

For the majority of service users there would be no change in their transport
provision. For a small number of children with needs best met by an

Page 21



23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

alternative arrangement the School Transport service will investigate to see
whether a Personal Transport Budget would allow for their needs to be met
more effectively.

If this proposal is agreed, it is anticipated that Personal Transport Budgets
would be offered in circumstances where that is the most appropriate option.

Proposal Two: The development and delivery of an Independent Travel
Training service for children with SEND as they prepare for adulthood.

It is proposed that the County Council provide Independent Travel Training for
a small number of suitable children who may benefit from it to help them to
prepare for approaching adulthood.

At present, eligible children with SEND are transported to educational settings
by transport arranged by the County Council. The service does not currently
offer support or training to prepare children for more independent travel.

For many children learning to travel independently is an important part of
preparing for adulthood and will help them lead fulfilling adult lives.

Independent travel training may be offered to eligible children with parents’
consent.

The County Council understands that some children may never reach a level
of independence that allows them to travel without assistance. Others may do
so if suitable training is put in place.

Readiness to complete Independent Travel Training would be determined by
a discussion between the County Council, the school and parents.

Following completion of Independent Travel Training, the travel arrangements
for some children may be reviewed, taking into consideration their greater
independence.

The completion of independent travel training might not always result in the
child being able to travel more independently and so once the training is
complete, their needs would be assessed to consider what travel
arrangement will be suitable for them.

The DfE statutory guidance for travel to school for children of compulsory
school age recognises that for many children, learning to travel independently
is an important part of preparing for adulthood and will help them lead fulfilling
adult lives. Independent Travel Training is a service provided for within the
Policy of many other local authorities such as Lincolnshire, Devon, Essex and
Kent. The County Council would like to bring services offered in line with DfE
guidance and other local authorities.

Page 22



34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

The purpose of seeking to consult on Independent Travel Training is to seek
to include it as an option in Policy for the future.

If, following consultation, the Executive Lead Member approved the
implementation of this proposal, the County Council would further explore
approaches to Independent Travel Training provision and plan how best to
provide it. This would include consulting with parent representative bodies,
exploring and learning how other local authorities have done so, how
successful the service has been and whether it is a service the County
Council would want to implement. From Summer 2024, the County Council
would then start considering appropriate children and young people for this
service and would engage with schools and parents about the involvement of
the child in the service.

Proposal Three: The regular review of the provision of Passenger
Assistants.

A Passenger Assistant (PA) is assigned to support eligible children on school
transport provided by County Council’s School Transport Service to and from
school. Their role is to enable children to travel safely and arrive at school
ready and able to learn. For example, children with Learning Difficulties can
become anxious during their journey to school. When they get to school, they
can be too anxious to learn for quite a time. A Passenger Assistant could be
assigned to provide support, so these children arrive at school in a calm state
of mind and ready to benefit fully from their school time.

The County Council employ approximately 550 PAs to support children on
school transport across the County who are assigned based on the needs of
the child. On occasion a PA is assigned based on the combined needs of
children in a vehicle as opposed just to the needs of one child.

At present, once a PA is assigned to support a child, this arrangement is not
reviewed on a regular basis to take into account any changes in the child’s
needs or circumstances.

The County Council understands that some children will always need the
support of a PA on their journey to and from school. Where this is the case,
there will be no intention to trigger a regular review of a PA.

Children’s needs in relation to support on school transport may change over
time. Some may become more independent; for others, their needs may
increase.

In order to ensure the right level of support is provided for children, there will
be times where a review of the provision of a PA should be conducted to
ensure the travel arrangement is safe and suitable for the child’s current
situation.

Page 23



43.

44.

45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

It is proposed that the School Transport Policy is amended to allow for the
regular review of the requirement for a Passenger Assistant. The review
would take into account information received and in consultation with all
relevant parties and would take place at such a time as decided by the local
authority, based on the child’s needs.

If approved, from the Summer term 2024, the County Council would start to
review the provision of PAs.

Parents, schools or passenger assistants themselves would be able to trigger
a review if they have information that demonstrates that a child currently
without a PA needs support, or a child currently with a PA allocated can travel
without this support.

By allowing for the regular review of passenger assistants, the County
Council would be able to optimise the PA workforce, and support children as
their needs change.

Proposal Four: Where parents are required to make a financial
contribution to discretionary school transport arrangements, to
increase this contribution in line with inflation (Consumer Price Index
(CPI)) from September 2024, with inflation-linked increases also being
applied in future years.

Currently the School Transport Policy outlines the level of contribution that will
be applied to spare capacity seats (previously referred to as privilege seats)
where a spare place on a contract vehicle may be offered to a child who is not
entitled to transport assistance and other discretionary arrangements. The
current Policy does not allow for contributions to be uplifted each year.

Transport costs have risen significantly above inflation over the last year and
the County Council has absorbed this cost pressure. The proposed increase
in discretionary charges would bring them in line with the overall rise in
transport costs.

It is proposed that contributions are uplifted in line with CPI each year.

If this proposal is approved following consultation, an inflationary increase
would be applied to the contribution for spare capacity seats and discretionary
arrangements. This would be applied in September 2024 in line with the CPI
rate for March 2024, and then annually each September, based on the CPI
rate in March of that calendar year.

These charges would only apply to a small number of children (approximately
200) who receive discretionary transport arrangements and would not affect
children that are entitled to free transport assistance.

Proposal Five: The rewording and updating of the Policy to ensure it
reflects the latest Department for Education statutory guidance (Travel

Page 24



54.

55.

56.

S57.

58.

59.

to School for children of compulsory school age, issued June 20231), is
relevant to the Service and is easy to understand.

Any changes to the School Transport Policy are required by law to be subject
to a public consultation.

The Policy has been added to and amended in specific circumstances over
several years to include changes that have been consulted on and approved
by the Executive Member for Children’s Services.

The Department for Education have updated the statutory guidance for Travel
to school for children of compulsory school age and the current HCC School
Transport Policy requires updating to bring it into line with this latest
guidance. In addition, some of the wording and language has been revised to
ensure that it is clear and easy to understand.

In line with the most recent DfE guidance, the following sections are proposed
to be updated in the Policy:
o Parental preference for children with Education, Health and Care Plans
o Children with medical needs
o Accompaniment of children

It is proposed that a number of updates are made throughout the Policy
document to provide clarity in wording and language, ensure the Policy is
relevant to the current School Transport Service, and to reflect the most
recent DfE guidance.

Example of changes are given below, and a copy of the proposed Policy with
all changes highlighted is included in Appendix A:

o Clarification around how the County Council defines eligible children

o Additional explanation of relevant factors that impact on eligibility

o Further clarification of the Stage 1 and Stage 2 Appeals Process
(Appendix 2 of the School Transport Policy)

o Replacement of references to ‘Home to School Transport’ with ‘School
Transport’ to reflect the change in name.

o Replacement of references to ‘School Escorts’ to ‘Passenger
Assistants’ to reflect the name change.

o The Policy currently states unacceptable behaviour will be determined
by the transport operator and passenger assistant. An addition has
been made to the list to include the school and the County Council into
those that will determine what is unacceptable behaviour.

o At some point the following statement was removed from Policy in
error: “Where a child lives at an address that is within the catchment
area of more than one school, the qualifying school for the purpose of
School Transport is the catchment school that is closest to their home
as measured by walking route. Where both schools in question are

1 Travel to school for children of compulsory school age - June 2023

Page 25


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1165730/Travel_to_school_for_children_of_compulsory_school_age.pdf

60.

over the statutory walking distance, the route to the schools will be
measured by the nearest available road route, passable for a suitable
motorised vehicle, when determining which catchment school qualifies
as a nearer school.”. It has been added back in in the draft Policy.

A draft of the amended School Transport Policy has been attached in
Appendix A of this report. Changes are indicated by a red font.

Engagement and process for consultation

61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

The consultation would seek views on the proposed changes to the School
Transport Policy. These changes may affect eligible and non-eligible children,
including those in receipt of discretionary travel arrangements, those
attending mainstream schools, and those attending special schools.

It is proposed that the consultation lasts for 35 working days during term time,
commencing from 30 October 2023 to 15 December 2023. During this time,
views would be sought, including those of service users, their parents,
providers, schools and other stakeholders.

The consultation would be published online on the County Council’'s website
at: Consultations | About the Council | Hampshire County Council
(hants.gov.uk). An Easy-Read version of the consultation document would
also be made available along with paper, braille and translation copies on
request.

Children and young people, their parents or carers, and other stakeholders
would also have the opportunity to attend consultation events. These events
would be advertised on the County Council’s consultation webpage, in press
releases and using the County Council’s social media channels.

Providers of school transport and other stakeholders would be contacted by
the County Council about the consultation to inform them of the proposed
changes and provide opportunities to contribute their views.

If the recommendation to proceed to public consultation on the proposed
changes is agreed, a further report would be brought to the Executive Lead
Member for Children’s Services early in the 2024/25 financial year, to share
the findings of the consultation. Outcomes from the consultation would also
be used to complete an Equality Impact Assessment, presented to the
Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services.

Legal Implications

67.

The school transport statutory guidance published by the Department for
Education states that local authorities should consult on proposed changes to
Policy. A consultation is proposed to gather public feedback on the proposed
changes.

Page 26


https://www.hants.gov.uk/consultations
https://www.hants.gov.uk/consultations

68. Arrangements for post-16 age (sixth form) student transport are set out in a
separate annual transport policy statement that is published by 31 May each
year. Consultation on the post-16 policy will be separate to the overall School
Transport Policy, however the intention is that it will run in parallel against the
same timescales.

Recommendation(s)

69. That the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services:
Gives approval to proceed with a public consultation on the proposed
changes to the School Transport Policy with a further report setting out the
findings of the consultation to be presented at a future Executive Member
Decision Day, likely to be in the first quarter of the 2024/25 financial year.

Climate Change Impact Assessment

70. The County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon
emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These tools
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects,
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2°C
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change
considerations are built into everything the Authority does. The tools would be
applied following the outcome of the consultation.

Equality Impact Assessment
71. An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out and is
attached in Appendix B of this report. If permission is granted to consult, then

it is intended that another EIA be carried out following the completion of the
consultation.

Page 27



REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic | Yes
growth and prosperity:

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent | Yes
lives:

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse No
environment:
People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, No

inclusive communities:

OR

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a
decision because:

Other Significant Links

Links to previous Member decisions:

Title Date
Consultation on proposed changes to Home to School 12 July 2022
Transport, including a change to policy | About the Council |
Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk)

Plans agreed for updated home to school transport service |
Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk)

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives

Title Date
Department for Education (publishing.service.gov.uk) June 2023

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in
the Act.)

Document Location
None

Page 28



https://www.hants.gov.uk/aboutthecouncil/haveyoursay/consultations/schooltransport#:~:text=Consultations-,Consultation%20on%20proposed%20changes%20to%20Home%20to%20School,including%20a%20change%20to%20policy&text=The%20consultation%20was%20open%20from,midnight%20on%2027%20March%202022.
https://www.hants.gov.uk/aboutthecouncil/haveyoursay/consultations/schooltransport#:~:text=Consultations-,Consultation%20on%20proposed%20changes%20to%20Home%20to%20School,including%20a%20change%20to%20policy&text=The%20consultation%20was%20open%20from,midnight%20on%2027%20March%202022.
https://www.hants.gov.uk/aboutthecouncil/haveyoursay/consultations/schooltransport#:~:text=Consultations-,Consultation%20on%20proposed%20changes%20to%20Home%20to%20School,including%20a%20change%20to%20policy&text=The%20consultation%20was%20open%20from,midnight%20on%2027%20March%202022.
https://www.hants.gov.uk/News/12072022HtSTchanges
https://www.hants.gov.uk/News/12072022HtSTchanges
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1165730/Travel_to_school_for_children_of_compulsory_school_age.pdf

Appendix A — Proposed draft Policy

School Transport Policy

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY

EFFECTIVE FROM April 2024

Page 29



CONTENTS

Section

Description

1

BACKGROUND AND SCOPE OF THE POLICY

2

LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES FOR TRANSPORTING CHILDREN TO/FROM
SCHOOL

3

DEFINITION OF ‘ELIGIBLE CHILDREN’

FACTORS TO CONSIDER FOR ‘ELIGIBLE CHILDREN’

- Compulsory school age

- Statutory walking distances

- Unsafe routes

- Special educational needs (SEN), a disability or mobility problems

- Parental Preference for children with Education, Health and Care Plans

- Accompaniment

- Extended rights eligibility (children entitled to free school meals or whose
parents receive the maximum level of Working Families Tax Credit)

- Definition of Home Address

- Qualifying schools

- School choice

- Permanent exclusion

- Suitability of arrangements

- Personal Transport Budgets

- Children with medical needs

- Promoting Independent Travel

DISCRETIONARY TRANSPORT ARRANGEMENTS AND EXCEPTIONS -
CHARGEABLE

- Spare Capacity Seats

- Voluntary driver schemes

- Part-time attendance

- Primary Age Siblings

- Journey times of more than 75 minutes

- Religion or belief

CIRCUMSTANCES WHERE TRANSPORT WILL NOT BE PROVIDED

OTHER ISSUES

- Review of Eligibility and Suitability

- Withdrawal of assistance

- Delays

- Errors

- Complaints

- Contacts

APPENDIX 1
Schedule of Charges for Discretionary Arrangements

APPENDIX 2
School Transport - Review/Appeals Process

Page 30




1. BACKGROUND AND SCOPE OF THE POLICY

1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.
1.5.
1.6.

1.7.

2,

2.1.

2.2.

The Policy sets out the legal responsibilities that Hampshire County Council
(the County Council) has in order to provide assistance with transport to
school or another education setting for children living in the County Council
local authority administrative area. It also supports the County Council’s
sustainable school travel strategy 2.

This Policy reflects the requirements of the Education Act 1996 (the Act)
and the Education and Inspections Act 2006. It also complies with the
Department for Education’s statutory guidance, Travel to School for children
of compulsory school age, issued in June 20233.

The changes to the previous Policy are included as Section 2, Section 3,
Paragraphs 4.8, 4.9, 4.11,4.12,4.15, 4.16, 4.17, 4.19 - 4.23, 4.27, 4.29,
431-4.39,54,6.2,71-7.3,7.9, 7.11, Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 of this
version.

Charges for transport arrangements are set out in Appendix 1.
The process for appeals is set out in Appendix 2.

Arrangements for post-16 age (sixth form) student transport are set out in a
separate annual transport policy statement that is published by 31 May each
year.

Note: References to parent in this document include birth parents, adoptive
parents, foster parents, carers or legal guardians with parental
responsibility.

LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES FOR TRANSPORTING CHILDREN TO/FROM
SCHOOL

Parents have a legal duty and a responsibility to make the necessary
arrangements to ensure that their child of compulsory school age attends
school regularly. For most parents, this means making arrangements for
their child to travel to and from school.

It is the responsibility of those with parental responsibility to make suitable
arrangements to ensure that their child is accompanied on walking routes to
school, if it is considered by the parents that the child’s age, ability and
levels of understanding make this necessary. The Authority will therefore
not provide transport solely because parents have not made such
arrangements, unless there is good reason. In the event that parents are
working or otherwise unavailable at the time their child travels to and from
school it remains the parents' responsibility to make arrangements to ensure
that their child attends school.

2 Hampshire sustainable modes of transport for children and young people - January 2013

3 Department for Education (publishing.service.gov.uk)

Page 31


https://documents.hants.gov.uk/childrens-services/Hampshire-sustainable-modes-of-transport-cyp-web.pdf
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/school-travel-strategy
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf

2.3. The County Council has a statutory duty to make arrangements to provide
free of charge school transport for ‘eligible children’ (defined in
paragraph 3.1) only.

3. DEFINITION OF ‘ELIGIBLE CHILDREN'.

3.1. Eligible children are defined* as children of compulsory school age (defined
in paragraph 4.3):

« who attend their nearest or catchment school which is beyond the
statutory walking distance. \Where a child lives within more than one
catchment area, eligibility for School Transport will be based on the
shortest walking route to any of the catchment schools.

» who, because of their special educational needs, disability or
mobility problems cannot reasonably be expected to walk to their
school, even if accompanied by an adult.

» whose route to the nearest suitable school is unsafe as determined
in accordance with Road Safety GB guidelines.

 children entitled to free school meals or whose parents receive the
maximum level of Working Families Tax Credit (subject to a distance
requirement).

3.2. All eligible children are entitled to free of charge transport to/from school at
the beginning and end of the normal school day only.

4. ‘ELIGIBLE CHILDREN’ - EXPLANATION OF RELEVANT FACTORS.

4.1. As a general rule, the County Council will only make provision for free of
charge transport for the children referenced set out above.

4.2. The following paragraphs explain the eligibility for free of charge transport
for eligible children only in more detail.

Compulsory school age

4.3.Children are of compulsory school age from the beginning of the term
following their fifth birthday (or from their fifth birthday if it falls on 31 August,
31 December or 31 March) until the last Friday in June of the academic year
in which they reach 16 years of age.

4 Schedule 35b of the Education Act 1996

Page 32



Statutory walking distances®

4.4.

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

For children of compulsory school age, transport is provided if their nearest
suitable or catchment school, measured from the child’s home to the
nearest available entrance to the school grounds’, is:

+ Beyond two miles (if below the age of eight); or

* Beyond three miles (if aged between eight and 16).

A child living between two and three miles from their school ceases to be an
eligible child on their 8th birthday.

The above are the statutory walking distances prescribed by legislation.
However, different walking distances apply in respect of children who are
entitled to free school meals or whose parents receive the maximum level of
working tax credit (see paragraph 4.9).

When determining whether a non-catchment school qualifies as a nearer
school distances greater than the statutory walking distances will be
measured on ‘road routes’, passable for a suitable motorised vehicle.

Where a child lives at an address that is within the catchment area of more
than one school, the qualifying school for the purpose of School Transport is
the catchment school that is closest to their home as measured by walking
route. Where both schools in question are over the statutory walking
distance, the route to the schools will be measured by the nearest available
road route, passable for a suitable motorised vehicle, when determining
which catchment school qualifies as a nearer school.

Extended rights eligibility

4.9.

A child is eligible for free travel to school if they are eligible for free school
meals or a parent with whom they live receives maximum Working Tax
Credit, and the child is:

Aged eight or over but under 11, attend their nearest suitable school and
it is more than 2 miles from their home by the nearest walking route; or

Aged 11 to 16 years, and attend one of their three nearest suitable
schools provided it is more than 2 miles (nearest walking route) but not
more than 6 miles (by road) from their home; or

Aged 11 to 16 years, attend a school that is more than 2 but not more
than 15 miles from their home that their parents have chosen on the
grounds of their religion or belief if, having regard to that religion or belief,
there is no suitable school nearer to their home.

5 Statutory walking distance defined in Section 444(5) of the Education Act 1996

Page 33



Unsafe routes

4.10. Transport arrangements will be made for children of compulsory school age
who cannot reasonably be expected to walk to the nearest suitable school
because the nature of the route is deemed unsafe to walk.

4.11. Assessment of Walked Routes to Schools Guidelines’, published by Road
Safety GB, support the assessment of routes. Officers apply the guidelines
to determine the nature — safe or otherwise - of any walking routes.

4.12. Where no safe walking route exists, for example where the road outside the
child’s home is unsafe, distances to schools, for the purpose of identifying
the nearest suitable school, will be measured on ‘road routes’, passable for
a suitable motorised vehicle.

Special educational needs (SEN), a disability or mobility problems

4.13. A child of compulsory school age with special educational needs, a disability
or mobility problems who cannot reasonably be expected to walk to school,
even if they were accompanied by an adult, will receive free school
transport, regardless of distance.

4.14. Eligibility is assessed on an individual basis, which includes the following:

* The child must be attending the nearest designated catchment area
school, a nearer school, or the nearest school with a place or is
attending the nearest appropriate school as determined by the Special
Educational Needs (SEN) service.

» By reason of their SEN, disability or mobility problem (including
temporary medical conditions) the child cannot reasonably be expected
to walk to school.

 Eligibility will be assessed on a case-by-case basis, and any
evidence submitted e.g., from a medical practitioner will be taken into
consideration.

Parental Preference for children with EHC Plans

4.15. Where a parent would prefer their child to attend a school that is further
away from their home than the nearest school that would be able to meet
their needs, the County Council will consider whether arranging travel to the
preferred school would be incompatible with the efficient use of resources.

4.16. The County Council will determine the cost of providing the child with free
travel to each of the two schools. If travel to the parent’s preferred school
would cost more than travel to the nearer school, the County Council will
decide whether the additional cost of providing travel to the parent’s
preferred school is incompatible with the efficient use of resources.

Page 34



4.17.If the County Council determines that providing travel to the parent’s
preferred school would be incompatible with the efficient use of resources,
the County Council will either:

A. name a different school that would be appropriate for the child’'s
needs, or

B. name the parent’s preferred school on the condition that the parent
arranges the travel or provides some or all of the cost of the travel. This
would normally be the difference between the cost of travel to the
parents’ preferred school and the cost of travel to the nearest suitable
school.

o At this point, the parent may withdraw their request for the
preferred school, and the County Council will therefore name the
school that would have been named in option A.

Primary Age Siblings

4.18.In the case of children with SEN, a disability or mobility problems (see
paragraph 4.13), transport will be provided where there is a need for primary
age sibling(s) to be taken to other school(s), provided that the school(s)
is/are the catchment area school(s), a nearer school or next nearest school.
In addition, consideration would be given to the timing of the school day or
the direction of the other school(s) that would prevent the parent from
accompanying the child(ren).

Accompaniment

4.19.In determining whether a child cannot reasonably be expected to walk for
the purposes of ‘special educational needs, a disability or mobility problems
eligibility’ or ‘unsafe route eligibility’, the County Council will consider on an
individual basis whether the child could reasonably be expected to walk if
accompanied by an adult and, if so, whether the child’s parent can
reasonably be expected to accompany the child.

4.20. The general expectation is that a child will be accompanied by a parent
where necessary, unless there is good reason why it is not reasonable to
expect the parent to do so. A child will not normally be entitled to free
school transport solely because their parents’ work commitments or caring
responsibilities mean they are unable to accompany the child to school. As
set out in the Department for Education statutory guidance sections 47 —
526 (Travel to school for children of compulsory school age), reasons such
as the parent’s working pattern or the fact they have children attending more
than one school, will not normally be considered sufficient reasons for a
parent being unable to accompany their child. These reasons apply to many

6 Travel to school for children of compulsory school age - June 2023

Page 35


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1165730/Travel_to_school_for_children_of_compulsory_school_age.pdf

4.21.

parents, and, in most circumstances, it is reasonable to expect the parent to
make suitable arrangements to fulfil their various responsibilities (for
example, their responsibilities as an employee and as a parent).

The circumstances the County Council will consider when determining if a
child can be reasonably accompanied include (but are not limited to) where
the parent has a disability or mobility problem that would make it difficult for
them to accompany their child, or other exceptional reasons provided by the
parent as to why they cannot accompany their child or make other suitable
arrangements. If a parent submits evidence that they are unable to
accompany their child to school this will be assessed on an individual basis
and any evidence submitted e.g., from a medical practitioner will be taken
into consideration.

Definition of Home Address

4.22. The home address will be that at which the child resides and spends the

majority of his/her time. Occasionally a child will have more than one
address, for example, because they live with parents who have different
addresses. In this situation, the home address used for determining
transport will be the one at which the child spends most of their time
including weekends and school holidays as well as during the week. Where
the child spends equal time at two addresses, parents must nominate one
address as the home address for transport even if both addresses are
eligible for transport assistance. Parents must let the County Council know if
the child’s home address changes and will be asked to provide evidence of
this if it affects entitlement to transport assistance. When the child lives at
the other address, they will not qualify for any transport arrangements other
than the one provided from the home address.

Qualifying schools

4.23. The schools covered by this Policy statement are: -

« community, foundation and voluntary aided and voluntary controlled
schools;

» academies (including those which are free schools, university technical
colleges, studio schools and special schools);

» alternative provision academies;

» community or foundation special schools;

* non-maintained special schools;

« pupil referral units (education centres)’;

* maintained nursery schools (where attended by a child of compulsory
school age); and

7 Where they are receiving education by virtue of arrangements made under section 19(1) of the Education
Act 1996

Page 36



+ city technology colleges (CTC), city colleges for the technology of the
Arts (CCTA).

« for children with SEN, an independent school if it is the only school
named in the child's Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP), or if it is
the nearest of two or more schools hamed in the EHCP and is not
named on the basis of parental preference.

School choice

4.24.Where parents apply for the designated catchment or a nearer school and
the school is unable to offer a place, free of charge transport will be offered
to the next nearest school with a place available providing the distance
criteria are met.

4.25. The child will remain entitled to transport to the next nearest school with a
place until they leave the school, or they change address.

Exclusion

4.26. Transport is provided for pupils who have been permanently excluded from
school who attend a new school or Education Centre, subject to the
statutory walking distance criteria being applied.

Suitability of arrangements

4.27. Transport arrangements should allow the child to reach school without
undue stress, strain or difficulty. Shorter journey times are desirable in
achieving this. Where practicable, maximum journey times should be 45
minutes each way for children of primary school age and 75 minutes each
way for children of secondary school age. A Passenger Assistant will be
provided on SEN transport when required, based on the needs of the
children travelling.

4.28. The most economic form of transport available will be provided, having due
regard to the availability of the transport as determined by the County
Council’'s Passenger Transport Group (PTG) and the maturity, health or
special needs of the child, as determined by the Head of School Transport
in the Children’s Services Department.

4.29. One vehicle may be used to transport children attending different schools.
Mixing of children attending special schools and mainstream schools may
occur when appropriate.

4.30. Transport will either be provided from designated pick-up and drop-off
points or from a child’s home address. A decision as to the collection point
for transport will be made using the criteria in 4.27 and 4.28. Designated
Pick up or drop off points will be no further than one mile walking distance
from a child’s home address.

Personal Transport Budgets

Page 37



4.31.

In certain circumstances, and subject to parental consent, the most suitable
arrangement might be for the parent to provide the transport. This may
because:

» Suitable transport is difficult to find, or not available at all, in the local
provider market;

* The child requires an adapted vehicle that is not available locally;

* The child requires skilled support tailored to their individual needs; or

* The County Council’s officers and the parent agrees that transport
provided by the parent is the most suitable arrangement.

In those cases, the County Council may offer the parent a Personal
Transport Budget (PTB) to enable the parent to make suitable travel
arrangements for transport and/or passenger assistant support. The PTB
would replace the child’s existing travel arrangement.

4.32. A Personal Transport Budget will be calculated by considering:

» The mileage to the child’s nearest suitable school (at the current
HMRC mileage rate)

* The child’s support needs and the level of skill required to support them
on their journey to school

* Individual circumstances affecting the child’s journey to and from
school

* The efficient use of the County Council’s resources

Children with Medical Needs

4.33.Where a child has medical needs that might affect their journey to and from

school, the County Council will ask parents about the support they need as
part of the transport application process. The County Council will also seek
information from the child's school, as it is likely that the school will have
arrangements in place to manage their medical needs during the day.

4.34. Passenger Assistants will receive a range of training, including First Aid

certification and awareness about common medical needs affecting children
travelling to school. Where the County Council is made aware that a child
has a specific medical need, we will ask the parent to provide the Individual
Healthcare Plan which will be shared with the Passenger Assistant. The
County Council will also ask the child’s school to share information about
the arrangements they put in place to manage their medical needs and to
offer training to the Passenger Assistant. The County Council will also ask
the school to identify whether the child’s needs will affect the child on the
journey to and from school.

4.35. Where unforeseen medical issues occur, or the child needs a medical

intervention beyond what has been covered in training, the Passenger
Assistant or driver will immediately call 999 and act in accordance with the
999 operator's instructions.

Page 38



4.36. A child’s routine medication will not be administered on the journey to and

from school, and routine medical procedures will not be carried out. It may
sometimes be necessary to administer a child’s emergency medication.
Emergency medication will only be administered in accordance with
instructions from a health care professional, for example where a clear
Individual Healthcare Plan written by a health care professional has been
provided, or under medical supervision during a 999 call.

Promoting independent travel

4.37

4.38.

4.39.

. Transport arrangements for SEN children will, wherever possible, support

them to develop independence, taking into account the health or special
needs of the child, and any steps towards independence outlined in the
EHCP.

Independent Travel Training may be offered to eligible children with parent’s
consent. Readiness to complete Independent Travel Training would be
outlined in the EHCP or agreed by the County Council following a
discussion with the school and parents. Once an eligible child has
successfully completed Independent Travel Training, their travel
arrangements will be reviewed.

The County Council will not withdraw free school transport from an eligible
child who does not successfully complete the travel training programme.

5. DISCRETIONARY TRANSPORT ARRANGEMENTS - CHARGEABLE

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

This section sets out the limited circumstances in which the County Council
will use its discretionary powers (under Section 508C of the Act) for children
who are not entitled to free transport (as set out under Section 4 of this
Policy above).

Where this discretion is used, there will usually be a charge for the transport
provided, as shown in Appendix 1

All arrangements within this section will be time limited. At the end of the
specified period, parents will need to re-apply.

Spare Capacity Seats

5.4.

A spare place on a contract vehicle may be offered to a child who is not
entitled to transport assistance. It will be withdrawn if the space is required
for an eligible child or if there are changes to the route which reduces the
number of concessionary seats. A flat rate charge will be made for such
seats (set annually by the County Council), except where the child being
transported is entitled to free school meals or the family is in receipt of the
maximum level of working tax credit. Parents must make their own
arrangements for the child to travel to the nearest existing pick-up point on
the route. Spare capacity seats will be offered only once all arrangements
are in place for eligible children.

Page 39



Part-time attendance

5.5. This will not normally be supported with a transport arrangement. Transport
may be provided to facilitate part-time attendance, where a child is
convalescing following medical treatment or iliness. The child’s progress
will be reviewed at least on a termly basis. This is a discretionary
arrangement and may be subject to the charge in Appendix 1 except when
part-time attendance is in place with the agreement of the local authority.

Journey times of more than 75 minutes

5.6. Unusually there may be situations where a journey time of more than 75
minutes is required. These may occur in transport:

to Faith secondary schools;

to special schools;

to pupil referral units (Education Centres);

for pupils attending their next nearest school with an available place
because no place available at designated catchment area school or
nearest school; and

for pupils attending out of county residential schools.

Religion or belief

5.7. Under the extended rights eligibility (paragraph 4.9), there is entitlement to
free transport for certain children aged 11 to 16 attending the nearest school
preferred on the grounds of religion or belief. Where extended rights
eligibility does not apply, requests for transport will be considered applying
this Policy and any grounds for an exceptional arrangement.

6. CIRCUMSTANCES WHERE TRANSPORT WILL NOT BE PROVIDED

6.1. Transport will not be provided in circumstances other than those set out
above for eligible children and where discretionary arrangements are made.

6.2. Specific examples of where transport will not be provided are:

» Temporary address. Transport will not be provided from a temporary
address to a school that is not the designated catchment area or nearest
school for that address.

» Journeys to and from other destinations. Transport is not offered to or
from points other than the school/ education centre and home or pick
up/drop off points.

» Victims of bullying. Dealing with bullying should be fully explored with the
current school. If parents decide to move their child’s school due to
dissatisfaction with their current school, then there is no entitlement to
free school transport.

» To or from pick-up and drop-off points, except as outlined in paragraph
4.30.

Page 40



Unacceptable behaviour of a pupil, as determined by the school/the
County Council/transport operator or passenger assistant (where
applicable) with reference to the Mainstream and SEN Pupil Codes of
Conduct. In such cases, requests for an allowance for parents to provide
transport (paragraph 4.31) or for public transport will be considered.

To take account of work/business commitments or domestic difficulties of
parents.

To accommodate attendance at after school activities or for arrival at start
times other than the usual start time for the school. For example,
individual exam timetables will not usually be accommodated.

7. OTHER ISSUES
Review of eligibility and suitability

7.1,

7.2.

7.3.

Eligibility for school transport assistance, and the suitability of those
arrangements including passenger assistants, will be decided based on
evidence received from relevant parties and a timescale for a planned
review of eligibility will be set at the same time as an eligibility decision is
made.

The planned review timescale will be based on the child’s needs and will
typically be at the end of the academic year, at a change of school phase, or
at the end of the child’s compulsory school career.

Eligibility will also be reviewed if the County Council becomes aware of a
change of circumstance, including where a parent notifies the County
Council that the child’s circumstances or needs have changed.

Withdrawal of Assistance

7.4.

Where the school transport Policy is changed and the level of discretionary
provision reduced, transport may be withdrawn from children who are
currently receiving assistance. In these cases, a reasonable notice period
will be given to enable parents to make informed decisions about their
child’s education. Any change of Policy will be subject to a period of
consultation with those affected.

Delays

7.5. Where a delay occurs in providing transport which is over and above the

7.6.

normal operational timescale for doing so and the application for transport
has been submitted in good time (with full information), reimbursement may
be made to cover expenses incurred (upon production of evidence of
expenditure) from the date from which transport would otherwise have been
provided. Such reimbursement will be for use of the most cost-effective
type of transport.

In the case of entitlement being granted upon appeal, reimbursement may
be made of expenses incurred upon production of evidence of expenditure

Page 41



from the date upon which the appeal was lodged or, if this falls within a
school holiday period, from the start of the following term or half-term. Such
reimbursement will be for use of the most cost-effective type of transport.

Errors

7.7.

7.8.

Where assistance is found to have been granted in error, notice of one full
term will normally be given that assistance will be withdrawn to allow
families to make other arrangements.

Where entitlement has been denied in error, transport will be arranged as
soon as possible and consideration will be given to reimbursing parents
retrospectively, with a time limit of the start of the academic year in which
the error was discovered.

Complaints/Appeals

7.9.

7.10.

7.11.

Hampshire County Council takes all complaints seriously and has a
complaints procedure to ensure they are investigated and, where possible,
resolved. The procedure is available on our website: Children's Services

Complaints.

People are encouraged to raise their concerns using the appropriate
contacts. Where necessary, complaints will be considered at a more senior
level to ensure every effort is made to resolve the issue.

Parents wishing to make an appeal regarding a transport entitiement
decision or subsequent transport arrangements should contact the Head of
School Transport, via email at School.Transport.cse@hants.gov.uk or in
writing to Children’s Services Department, Hampshire County Council, The
Castle, Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 8UG. The appeals process is
provided in Appendix 3.

Contacts

7.12. Please visit the School Transport page on Hampshire County Council’s

website (Hantsweb) for up-to-date contact information.
Travel to school | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk)

Page 42


https://www.hants.gov.uk/educationandlearning/complaints/socialcareservices
https://www.hants.gov.uk/educationandlearning/complaints/socialcareservices
mailto:School.Transport.cse@hants.gov.uk
https://www.hants.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schooltransport

Appendix 1

Schedule of Charges for Discretionary Arrangements

Spare Capacity Seats to be reviewed annually and charges adjusted in line with
the Consumer Price Index (CPI):

Distance to travel Annual charge

Up to 5 miles £640
5.01 miles to 7.5 miles £887
7.51 miles to 10 miles £1,242
Over 10 miles £1,419

The contribution is waived for families when the travelling child is in receipt of
Free School Meals on the grounds of low income or the family is in receipt of the
maximum level of Working Tax Credit.

Exceptions to Policy
To be reviewed annually and charges adjusted in line with CPI. The following
contributions apply based on the distance to travel. The exception to Policy will

be time limited and the charge for discretionary arrangements can be pro-rated
based on the length (in weeks) of the actual arrangement.

Distance to travel Example annual charge

Up to 5 miles £640
5.01 miles to 7.5 miles £887
7.51 miles to 10 miles £1,242
Over 10 miles £1,419

If the child’s parents are in receipt of Income Support; income-based Jobseekers
Allowance; income-related Employment and Support Allowance; support under
Part VI of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; the guaranteed element of State
Pension Credit; Child Tax Credit (provided you’re not also entitled to Working Tax
Credit and have an annual gross income of no more than £16,190); Working Tax
Credit run-on-paid for 4 weeks after you stop qualifying for Working Tax Credit; or
Universal Credit, the contribution will be waived.

Families in receipt of free school meals (due to low income) are not required to
pay the contribution.

Page 43



Families with a low income, but not in receipt of the above benefits, where the
imposition of the contribution would reduce their income to around £16,190; or
those with discretionary circumstances, may apply for a discretionary waiver or
reduction in contribution.

Page 44



Appendix 2
School Transport - Review/Appeals Process
Parents who wish to challenge a decision about:
» The suitability of the transport arrangements offered to their child;
+ their child’s eligibility;
+ the distance measurement in relation to statutory walking distances; and

+ the inherent safety of the route in accordance with the Road Safety GB
guidelines

may do so via email to School.Transport.cse@hants.gov.uk or in writing to,
School Transport, Elizabeth Il Court, Children’s Services Department, Hampshire
County Council, The Castle, Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 8UG. Parents should
indicate their reasons for challenging the decision using the categories above.

In the first instance a case will be reviewed by a Senior Officer within the School
Transport Service.

In cases against refusal of a transport service there may be a further appeal to an
Independent Appeal Panel made up of one or more Senior Officers outside of the
School Transport Service. Members of the Panel will hold a comprehensive
understanding of the school transport Policy and legislative framework and will
make decisions on appeals against offers of transport.

Stage one: Review by a Senior Officer

A parent has 20 working days from receipt of the local authority’s school
transport decision to make a written request asking for a review of the decision.

The written request should detail why the parent believes the decision should be
reviewed using the categories above. They should give details of any personal
and/or family circumstances the parent believes should be considered when the
decision is reviewed.

Within 20 working days of receipt of the parent’s written request a senior officer
will review the original decision and send the parent a detailed written notification
of the outcome of their review, setting out:

» whether they have upheld the local authority’s original decision;
* why they reached that decision;

Page 45


mailto:School.Transport.cse@hants.gov.uk

* how the review was conducted (including the standard followed e.g. Road
Safety GB);

» the factors considered in reaching their decision;

» any other agencies or directorates that were consulted as part of the
review.

Where they have upheld the original decision, they should also explain how the
parent may escalate their appeal to stage two of the process.

Stage two: Review by an independent appeal panel, where it applies.

A parent has 20 working days from receipt of the local authority’s stage one
written decision notification to make a written request to escalate the matter to
stage two.

Within 40 working days of receipt of the parents request an independent appeal
panel will consider written and verbal representations from both the parent and
officers involved in the case and give a detailed written notification of the
outcome (within 5 working days), setting out:

* whether they have upheld the local authority’s original decision;

* why they reached that decision;

* how the review was conducted (including the standard followed e.g. Road
Safety GB);

 the factors considered in reaching their decision;

+ information about any other directorates and/or agencies that were
consulted as part of the review; and

» information about the parent’s right to put the matter to the Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman (see below).

The independent appeal panel will be made up of one or more members who
will be independent of the original decision making process (but are not required
to be independent of the local authority) and suitably experienced (at the
discretion of the local authority), to ensure a balance is achieved between
meeting the needs of the parents and the local authority, and that road safety
requirements are complied with and no child is placed at unnecessary risk.
Members will be assigned by a senior manager within the County Council’s
Children’s Services directorate.

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman There is a right of complaint
to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, but only if complainants
consider that there was a failure to comply with the procedural rules or if there
are any other irregularities in the way the appeal has been handled. If the

Page 46



complainant considers the decision of the independent panel to be flawed on
public law grounds, the complainant may also apply for judicial review.

Page 47



Appendix B — EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Equalities Impact Assessment

What is an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) and why does the County Council
do them?

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) is an obligation within the Equality Act
2010 (“the Act”), which asks public authorities, like Hampshire County Council, to
give ‘due regard’ to equality considerations, in particular to:

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.

- Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.

- Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

This includes assessing the impact of policies and practices on individuals and
communities with a protected characteristic, as defined in the Act and some other
specific groups. The County Council uses ElAs to ensure it has paid ‘due regard’
to equalities considerations when there are changes to a service or policy, a new
project or certain decisions.

Title: Permission to consult on proposed changes to the School Transport Policy
(Oct 2023)

EIA for Savings Programme: No
Service affected: The School Transport Service
Description of the service/policy/project/project phase:

Hampshire County Council (the Council) has a statutory duty to provide free of
charge School Transport for eligible children (eligibility as set out in the Council’s
School Transport Policy).

The School Transport Service currently arranges daily transport to school for
approximately 13,500 children and young people. Of these, 9,600 attended
mainstream schools and 3,750 attended schools and colleges that provide for
their Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) or other needs.

A rise in complexity of transport needs, along with pressures affecting the external
market, have meant that it is becoming more challenging for operators to provide
transport that adequately meets the passengers' needs. The County Council
needs to consider approaches that would allow them to be better able to respond
to these pressures and provide adequate, safe, and efficient transport to children.

Page 48



New/changed service/policy/project:

Permission is being sought to undertake a full public consultation on five proposed
changes within school transport. The proposed changes would enable the County
Council to be better able to provide flexible transport arrangements for children
that respond to their changing needs, demand and external market pressures.
The proposed changes would also bring the School Transport Policy in line with
the updated Department for Education statutory guidance on Travel to School for
Children of Compulsory School Age. Feedback would be gathered on the
following proposed changes:

e Proposal One: For Personal Transport Budgets (PTB) to be available to
families where a child’s needs or circumstances mean that suitable
transport is difficult to find, or not available at all, in the local operator
market.

e Proposal Two: The development and delivery of an Independent Travel
Training service for children with SEND as they prepare for adulthood.

e Proposal Three: The regular review of the provision of Passenger
Assistants.

e Proposal Four: Where parents are required to make a financial contribution
to discretionary school transport arrangements, to increase this contribution
in line with inflation (Consumer Price Index (CPI)) from September 2024,
with inflation-linked increases also being applied in future years.

e Proposal Five: The rewording and updating of the Policy to ensure it
reflects the latest Department for Education statutory guidance (Travel to
School for children of compulsory school age, issued June 2023), is
relevant to the Service and is easy to understand.

The impact of the changes on young people with different protected
characteristics will be captured as part of this consultation.

Equality considerations

This EIA accompanies an Executive Lead Member for Children's Services
decision report on the 19 October 2023.

This EIA principally focusses on considering the potential impact of the proposed
changes on the Public rather than Staff as there are no proposed changes to staff
terms and conditions. Therefore, the impact has been assessed as neutral for
Staff throughout.

A further EIA will be undertaken following the public consultation.

Equality considerations — Impact Assessment
Age

Impact on public: Neutral

Impact on staff: Neutral

Rationale

Page 49



Consultation — It is acknowledged that older people may be less likely to have
access to the internet and may not be able to respond online to a consultation.
The Council would ensure that paper copies of the consultation are available by
request for postal submission.

As the school transport service is provided for eligible children and young people
of school age (eligibility as set out in the Council’'s School Transport Policy), it is
recognised that they and their families/carers would be disproportionality affected
by the proposed change in regard to age as a protected characteristic.

Proposal one — Positive - Personal Transport Budgets (PTB). This service
would be something that gives more flexibility to children and families although it
is anticipated that it will only be an option for some families.

Proposal two — Positive — Independent Travel Training (ITT) would be a service
offered to students as they prepare for approaching adulthood and would only be
suitable for a small number of students. For the students that it is suitable for and
who choose to take part in the training, ITT would be a strengths-based service
that, for some, would result in greater independence. The Council would work
closely with families and school to implement ITT.

Proposal three — Negative low - The review of the allocation of Passenger
Assistants (PA) would see that some students who no longer require a PA would
have their PA phased out and students whose needs have changed and require
one, would be identified for allocation of a PA in a more timely way.

Proposal four — Negative low — The increase in contribution rates for children
receiving discretionary transport arrangements will disproportionately affect
children and young people of school age and their families. The number of
families affected is approximately 100 of the approximate 13,500 students
receiving school transport arranged by the council.

Proposal five — Positive — Changes to the school transport policy is anticipated
to be positive as the changes would ensure it is up to date, relevant to the service
and easy to understand.

Disability

Impact on public: Neutral

Impact on staff: Neutral

Rationale

Consultation — The Council acknowledge that people with disabilities may find it
harder to engage with the consultation and will put in place measures to enable
those with disabilities to take part. These include the consultation response form

and information pack being available in an easy read format, a copy in another
language or format (such as audio, large print, or Braille), or if they have any queries

Page 50



about the consultation, they would be able to request this by either please emailing
or calling the School Transport team.

Proposal one — Positive — PTBs will disproportionately affect Children and Young
people with disabilities and their families. The change will mean that children, young
people and their families with disabilities who are suitable for a PTB will have more
flexible options for their transport arrangements.

Proposal two — Positive — ITT would disproportionately affect Children and Young
people with disabilities and their families. Most people offered ITT would have
SEND. For the students that it is suitable for and who choose to take part in the
training, ITT would be a strengths-based service that, for some, would result in
greater independence. The Council would work closely with families and school to
implement ITT.

Proposal three — Negative low — The review of PAs would disproportionately
affect children and young people and their families with disabilities as PAs are
mostly used to support students with SEND. The proposal would see that some
students who no longer require a PA would have their PA phased out and students
whose needs have changed and require one, would be identified for allocation of a
PA in a timelier way.

Proposal four — Neutral - The increase in contribution rates for students in receipt
of discretionary travel arrangements would have no identified impact based on
disability and therefore the impact has been assessed as neutral.

Proposal Five - Neutral - There is no identified impact based on disability and
therefore the impact has been assessed as neutral.

Gender Reassignment

Impact on public: Neutral

Impact on staff: Neutral

Rationale

There is no identified impact based on gender reassignment and therefore the
impact has been assessed as neutral.

Pregnancy and Maternity

Impact on public: Neutral

Impact on staff: Neutral

Rationale

There is no identified impact based on pregnancy and maternity and therefore the
impact has been assessed as neutral.

Race

Page 51



Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

There is no identified impact based on race and therefore the impact has been
assessed as neutral.

Religion or Belief
Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

There is no identified impact based on religion or belief and therefore the impact
has been assessed as neutral.

Sex

Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

There is no identified impact based on sex and therefore the impact has been
assessed as neutral.

Sexual Orientation
Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

There is no identified impact based on sexual orientation and therefore the impact
has been assessed as neutral.

Marriage and Civil Partnerships
Impact on public: Neutral
Impact on staff: Neutral
Rationale

There is no identified impact based on marriage and civil partnership and
therefore the impact has been assessed as neutral.
Poverty

Impact on public: Negative Low

Impact on staff: Neutral

Page 52



Rationale

Proposals one, two, three and five have no identified impact based on poverty
and therefore the impact has been assessed as neutral.

Proposal four — Negative low — The increase in contribution rate would
disproportionately affect families on a lower income.

Mitigation actions:

This has been considered by the Council and the contribution rate would continue
to be waived for families in receipt of certain benefits. Families with exceptional
circumstances would also be able to apply for a discretionary waiver or reduction
in parental contributions.

Rurality

Impact on public: Negative — Medium
Impact on staff: Neutral

Rationale

Proposals one, two, three and five have no identified impact based on rurality
and therefore the impact has been assessed as neutral.

Proposal four — Negative Medium — Families living in rural areas often face a
longer journey in terms of distance and journey times to access discretionary
school transport provision. Public transport may be a more restricted offer. The
longer journey and restricted public transport may limit families’ capacity to
support their child's travel. As journeys from rural areas will tend to be longer, the
cost of providing transport for children from rural areas are greater on average.
Therefore the charges are grouped into four bands based on distance. Due to the
longer distances, rural families will be more likely to be in a higher band with a
higher charge.

Geographical Impact: All Hampshire
Additional Information:

This EIA accompanies an Executive Lead Member for Children's Services
decision report on the 19 October 2023.

This EIA principally focusses on considering the potential impact of the proposed
changes on the Public rather than Staff as there are no proposed changes to staff
terms and conditions. Therefore, the impact has been assessed as neutral for
Staff throughout.

A further EIA will be undertaken following the public consultation.
EIA reference number: 00470

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Report
Decision Maker: Executive Member for Education
Date: 19 October 2023
Title: Additional Specialist Education Provision
Report From: Director for Children’s Services
Contact name: Sara Carey, Inclusion Commissioning Manager
Tel: 07565205125 Email: Sara.carey@hants.gov.uk

Purpose of this Report

1.

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to consult on the
establishment of a SEND satellite provision run by Riverside Community
Special School, Waterlooville on the site of Mill Hill Primary School,
Waterlooville. The satellite provision will create 12 additional places for
children with severe learning difficulties (SLD) from January 2024.

Recommendation(s)

2. That approval be given to consult on the establishment of a satellite

provision for Riverside Community Special School utilising existing
accommodation at Mill Hill Primary school from January 2024.

3. That a further report is brought back to the Executive Member for

Education following the public consultation period for final approval.

Executive Summary

4. Hampshire County Council is committed to ensuring that all children can

access high-quality education, as near to their family and local community
as possible.

Leaders and practitioners are highly ambitious for children and young
people with Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) in
Hampshire to succeed (Ofsted CQC (Care Quality Commission) 2020)
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80472

There is a statutory duty to provide school places for all children, including
those who have SEND. We are committed to further developing successful
provision to meet this demand within the SEND sector.

Page 55



https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80472

7. The proposed additional SEND provision outlined within this report will help
manage some of the school place pressures generated by the increase in
the number of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) maintained by
the Local Authority.

8. As of August 2023, the number of maintained EHCPs was 15,753. By
2030-31, Hampshire expect there to be ¢28,000 pupils who will have an
EHCP if practices continue as they currently are.

9. Demand has resulted in a corresponding pressure for places in special
schools and resourced provision. The County Council is committed to
further developing successful provision or creating new provision where
possible to meet demand for places.

10. The lack of sufficient provision within Hampshire Schools has led to an
increase in placements within the independent and non-maintained sector
(INMSS). The proposals contained within this report aim to build on good
quality Hampshire school provision and meet the needs of children and
young people within their local area. This will reduce the Local Authority’s
dependence upon independent and non-maintained provision (INMSS) and
will aim to keep pupils as close to their home community as possible.

11.All Local Authorities have a duty to promote sustainable and active travel to
school. Hampshire is made up of diverse urban and rural communities
which can cause long travel times for already vulnerable children.
However, having closer local provision minimises school transport costs
and travel times.

Contextual information

12.Riverside Community Special School is rated by Ofsted as a Good School.
Please see link to their most recent Ofsted Report:- 50227688
(ofsted.gov.uk).

13.The school provides specialist support for 137 pupils with moderate
learning difficulties (MLD), SLD and autism spectrum conditions (ASC). All
pupils attending the school have an EHCP.

14.Parental demand for the school continues to be high — the Local Authority
has expanded the school three times in recent years. The school
continues to be subject to increasing numbers of Tribunals where it has
been directed.

15. There are more Tribunals expected in the coming weeks with appeals
expected if placements cannot be agreed.

Page 56


https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50227688
https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50227688

16. The school has expanded in size and increased its Agreed Pupil Numbers
(APN) each year to keep up with the requirements. However further short-
term sustainable development on the site is not possible.

17.Net Capacity Assessments (NCAs) NCA Programme Guide
(pubishing.service.gov.uk) have been used for mainstream schools for
several years. The NCA tool and methodology is used to calculate the
number of children a school can accommodate, based on the size and use
of the space available. Recently the DfE created an NCA tool for special
schools also.

18.The NCA for Riverside Community Special School suggests that the
accommodation is suitable for 121 pupils however the current APN is 137.
The current number on roll is 138. The Tribunal process often continues to
place additional pupils at the school even when it takes total numbers
beyond the NCA and APN. This can affect safeguarding, health, and
safety, staffing and the quality of education being provided at the school.

19. Mill Hill Primary School has available accommodation — this is an adjoining
building, not utilised by the school and currently rented to Growing Places
Ltd a third-party who use part of it for after-school and holiday provision
together with a Community Pantry. The building is of a size that enables
Growing Places to retain the Community Pantry and a room for the after-
school club with their own access. Two classrooms and other ancillary
facilities, including an external play space will then be segregated for use
by Riverside School.

Finance

20.Costs to educate within a special school are considerably less that in the
independent non maintained sector (INMSS) as the table below illustrates.

Type of provision Average revenue cost per
place (March 2023)

Community Special School £18,079

Resourced Provision (RP) £17,636

Independent and non-maintained special £61,200

school place (INMSS)

21.It is expected that the special school place funding will be a mix of both
step 5 and step 6*; dependent on individual needs this will be c£215K per
year. Costs shown in Appendix 1 are currently being analysed and assured
by finance colleagues.

22.The spaces being made available at Mill Hill Primary School require some
minor works to make them appropriate for use by pupils with severe
learning disabilities. A range of refurbishment works, upgraded toilet area,
sensory room, safeguarding measures, and a new segregated play space
area are required. Estimates for these works are in the region of £350,000

Page 57


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1161512/NCA_Programme_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1161512/NCA_Programme_Guide.pdf

and will be funded in full from the Childrens Service Capital Programme.
Consultation and Equalities

23. A four-week statutory consultation will be undertaken in October &
November 2023 if this proposal to consult is agreed.

24. An equality impact assessment has been submitted and draft included in
appendix 2 below.

Climate Change Impact Assessment

25.No Climate Change Impact Assessment has been completed at the time of
writing this paper. If the proposal is agreed, then one will be completed and
it will follow.

Other Key Issues

26.Riverside Community Special School is at full capacity; therefore, we are
unable to safely place any other additional pupils.

Conclusion

27.The proposals contained within this report aim to build on good quality
Hampshire special school provision and meet the needs of children and
young people within their local settings.

28. This will reduce the Local Authority’s dependence upon independent and

non-maintained provision (INMSS) and will aim to keep pupils as close to
their home community as possible.

Page 58



REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic | Yes
growth and prosperity:

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent | Yes
lives:

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse Yes
environment:
People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, Yes

inclusive communities:

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in
the Act.)

Page 59




EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:

1.

Equality Duty

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the
Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:

Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity,
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);

Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;

Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who
do not share it.

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:

The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons
sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that
characteristic.

Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share
it.

Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by
such persons is disproportionally low.

2. Equalities Impact Assessment:

Please see Appendix 2 below for draft Equalities Impact Assessment supporting
this proposal.

Page 60



Appendix 1

Funding

Place Funding per pupil £10,000
Step 6 (£10,252) x 6

Step 5 (£5,240) x 6

TOTAL funding

Page 61

£120,000.00
£61,512.00
£31,440.00
£212,952.00



Appendix 2

o

Hampshire

County Council

Equality Impact Assessment

What is an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) and why does the County Council do them?

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) is an obligation within the Equality Act 2010 ("the Act”), which asks public

authorities, like Hampshire County Council, to give "due regard’ to equality considerations, in particular to:

- Bliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act.

- Advance equality of opportunity bebween people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
- Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.

This includes assessing the impact of policies and practices on individuals and communities with a protected

characteristic, as defined in the Act and some other specific groups. The County Coundil uses ELAs to ensure it has
paid "due regard’ to equalities considerations when there are changes to a service or policy, a new project or certain

decisions.
EIA author JPosition & Department ICcmlact
Richard Bayless w Strategic Development  Jtichard.ba nits.qov.uk
Tel:03707 794892
[Children's Senvices
Tite; Satellite Site for Riverside Community Special
Schoal at Mill Hill Primary Schoaol
Redated ElAs: Mone

Page 62




Page 63



EIA for Savings Programme:

No

Service affected

Riverside Community Spedal School, Scratchface Lane,
Purbrook, Waterlooville and Mill Hill Primary School, Mill
Road, Waterlooville,

Drescription of the service/policy/project/project phase

MLD), SLD and autism spectrum conditions (ASC).
rental demand for the school continues to be high and
school is seeing an inorease in the number of
nals. Accommodation at the school is suitable for
21 pupils however the current number on roll is 138.
tribunal process often places additional pupils at the
hool even when it takes total numbers beyond what
an be suitably accommedated. This can affect
uarding, health, and safety, staffing and quality of
ucation at the school. Mill Hill Primary School has
vailable accommaodation in an adjoining building
currently remted to a third-party who use part of it for
fter-school / holiday provision and a Community Pantry.

Newfchanged sarvice/policy/project

Riverside Community Spedal School provides specialist support for
137 pupils with moderate leaming difficulides (MLD), SLD and
lautism spectrum conditions (ASC). Parental demand for the school
icontinues to be high and the school is sesing an increase in the
number of tribunals. Accommodation at the school is suitable for
121 pupils however the current number on roll is 138. The tribunal
iprocess often places additional pupils at the school even when it
takes total numbers beyond what can be suitably accommodated.
This can affect safeguarding, health, and safety, staffing and
iquality of education at the school. Mill Hill Primary School has
available accommaodation in an adjoining building cumrently rentad
to a third-party who use part of it for after-school | holiday

rovision and a Community Pantry.

Page 64




Engagement

Consultation will be undertaken following Decision Day on 15 October 2023. This will consist a four-week
statutory consultation will be undertaken if proposal to consult is agreed.

This will include engagement with key stakeholders:

Parents of children attending both Riverside Community Spedal School and Mill Hill Primary School,
Headteachers, school staff and Governing Body of the schools, Headteachers and Chairs of Governors of
neighbouring schools, Havant Councillors, Local Diocese, Local MP, HCC Elected Members, Residents of
the immediate areas area of Mill Hill Primary and other relevant community stakeholders

Bqualities considerations - Impact Assessment

Age

Impact on public  |Positive

Impact on staff |Positive

Rationale This provision will support primary aged pupils with spedal education needs to thrive in an
inclusive, and spedalist environment; using skills and experience of Riverside Community
ial School. This will provide accommodation to meet the needs of 12 primary aged
ils with Severe Leaming Difficulties (SLD). The staff of Mill Hill Primary School will also
fit from working alongside; developing their skills, knowledge and training within the
rea of Special Educational Needs.

Miticats

Page 65




Disability

Impact on public

|Positive

Impact on staff

|Positive

Rationale

This profect will provide accommodaiion fo mest the nesds of 17 primary aged pupils with
learming difficulties (5.0) and aflow more pupils to aftend schools in their respective

H{gmmﬁﬁmmm their peer groups; have access fo trained staff and

alist resources, in order to support their needs, and i an emvironment that cam
 ardapt accordingly i an indusive setting. The intemal afterations that are baing made fo thel
 buitdling wall alfow for two iy accessible classrooms and specialist anciliary Boilities and
|staif areas. These spaces will be accessible to alf pupis. With the building designed fo be
fully accassible it will improve accessibility for all induding those wiich share disability as 3
| profected charadterstic, this inclides existing and any newly recruited staiff.

Miticeti

Gender Reassignment

Impact on public  MNeutral
Impact on staff [Neutral
Rationale
There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and above
current drcumstances and over other protected characteristics groups, therefore the
mpact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and young people.
Miticats

Pregnancy and Maternity

Impact on public

MNeutral

Page 66




Impact on staff

Meutral

Rationale
[There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and
above the current circumstances and over other protected characteristics groups,
therefore the impact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and young
people.
Mitiaats
Race
Impact on public  [Neutral
Impacton staff  |Neutral
Rationale
There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and abowve
khe current drcumstances and over other protected characteristics groups, therefore the
mpact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and young people.
Mitigati

Religion or Belief

Impact on public  [Neutral

Impact on staff [Neutral

Rationale
There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and above
the current drcumstances and over other protected characteristics groups, therefore the
impact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and young people.

Mitigati

Page 67




Sex

Impact on public  [Neutral

Impact on staff [Neutral

Rationale
There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and above
khe current circumstances and over other protected characteristics groups, therefore the
mpact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and young people.

Mitigation

Sexual Orientation

Impact on public  [Neutral

Impact on staff INeutral

Rationale
There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and above
bhe current circumstances and over other protected characteristics groups, therefore the
mpact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and young people.

Mitigation

Page 68




Marriage and Civil Partnership

Impact on public  [Neubal

Impact on staff INeutral

Rationale
There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and above
khe current circumstances and over other protected characteristics groups, therefore the
mpact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and young people.
Mitigation
Poverty

Impact on public  [Neutral

Impact on staff INeutral

Rationale
There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and
above the cument circumstances and over other protected characteristics groups,
therefore the impact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and young
people.

Mitigaticn

Page 69




Rurality

Impact on public  [Newtral

Impact on staff [Neutral

Rationale
[There will be no change in benefits to this protected characteristic group, over and
bove the current circumstances and over other protected characteristics groups,
E;erefm‘e the impact has been assessed as neutral for both staff, children and
ung people.
Mitigation

Geographical Impact: Havant

Equality Statement
Additional information:

Hampshire County Council has a statutory duty to provide school places for all children induding these who have
sperial educational needs and/or a disability. The County Coundil is committed to further developing successful
provision to meet this demand within the Spedial Education Needs and Disability (SEND) sector within the County
of Hampshire to reduce using the more expensive private and independent school sector. This is part of an
ongoing drive to seek opportunities in Hampshire Schools to expand, develop or re-designate themsalves. or
increase their pupil numbers, in order to meet the increasing need for SEN places.

Overview Statement:

Assessment to show that due regard has been given and that therz is no requirement for a full ETA:

EIA refarence number: 480

Date of production of EIA for publication: 5 October 2023

Page 70



Agenda Item 4

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Decision Report

Decision Maker: Executive Member for Education
Date: 19 October 2023
Title: School Term and Holiday Dates for 2025-26, 2026-27 and

2027-28 Academic Years

Report From: Director of Children’s Services

Contact name: Nick Sadler, Head of Admissions

Tel: 0370 779 5375 Email: Nicholas.sadler@hants.gov.uk

Purpose of this Report

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Member for Education on
the need to decide the pattern of school term and holiday dates for the school
years 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28, to note some changes to this process
adopted by the County Council and to note the outcomes of the consultation
process that has been followed.

Recommendation
2. ltis recommended that the Executive Member for Education:

3. Approves the school term and holiday dates that have been consulted upon
with all schools and considered by the County Council’'s Schools Union
Group, for the school year 2025/26, as set out in appendix 2 of the report,
with an adjustment to the start date of the autumn term from 1 September
2025 to 3 September 2025 and an adjustment to the end date of the autumn
term from 17 December 2025 to 19 December 2025.

4. Approves the school term and holiday dates that have been consulted upon
with all schools and considered by the County Council’s Schools Union
Group, for the school years 2026/27 and 2027/28 as set out in appendix 2 of
the report.

Executive Summary
5. This report seeks to inform the Executive Member for Education on the need
to decide the pattern of school term and holiday dates for the school years

2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28, and recommends the term and holiday dates
that have been subject to a consultation process with Hampshire schools.

Page 71



Contextual information

6.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

It is the responsibility of a local authority to schedule a school year which
provides the statutory 190 pupil days (380 sessions) and 195 teacher days in
voluntary controlled and community schools. The structure for delivering this
entittement has been the subject of national and local debate for many years.
The Local Government Association (LGA) National Standing Committee on
the School Year has, in the past, been active in seeking to establish a
National School Year but this process has now ended.

In previous years, Hampshire has determined the school year 18 months
before the start of each school year, with the 2024/25 school year determined
in February 2023 by the Executive Member, following consultation with
Hampshire schools and staff and engagement with the Conditions of Service
Working Party (CoSWoP).

A new approach has been adopted by the County Council to determine the
school year, to support longer term planning for schools, senior leaders and
staff, as well as for parents and the Local Authority which entails determining
several school years in advance. It also includes engaging and seeking views
and comments from the Schools Union Group as this is considered more
representative of the entire schools’ workforce.

The effect of these changes is that:

three school years have been proposed, 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28 for
the Executive Member decision day on 19 October 2023.

In autumn 2024, the school year 2028/29 will be consulted on and brought to
the Executive Member Decision Day for determination. This will continue
annually, when the school year approximately four years away will be
determined to support long term planning in the Hampshire school system.

Legal advice has been sought and considered before the County Council
adopted this new approach. The approach is consistent with several other
Local Authorities in England.

The Joint Council for Qualifications have confirmed that GCSE and A-level
examinations are not scheduled during the week of the late Spring Bank
Holiday in May. Therefore, examinations would not be scheduled on the
Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday of Friday of that week.

The proposals for 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28 are attached to this
document as appendix 2. The proposed school years try to take account of
balanced half terms for holiday periods where possible, including trying to
ensure two full weeks for both the Christmas and Easter holidays, including
three weekends across both. The other dates for holidays fit a sensible
pattern based on the positioning of the Easter weekend and the bank holidays

Page 72



in May.

Finance

15.

There are no financial implications.

Performance

16.

17.

The determination of dates several years in advance, supports longer term
planning for schools, senior leaders, and staff, as well as the County Council.

The early determination of dates enables families to plan holidays and
arrange childcare so that school attendance need not be compromised.
Children benefit from good attendance in school; it supports educational
achievement and lays the foundation for a positive contribution to society and
economic well-being. Properly structured periods of learning and rest help
children to remain healthy, enjoy their school time and achieve more.

Consultation and Equalities

18.

19.

20.

The Schools Union Group were invited to comment on the proposed pattern
of dates at their meeting on Tuesday 19 September 2023. The group
discussed the impact of the changing Easter date on the length of some
terms, how going from an early Easter Sunday (as in March 2027) to a late
Easter Sunday (as in April 2028), made the intervening year more demanding
for staff and with reference to March 2027 asked if any work had been done
to understand the impact on attendance of finishing on Maundy Thursday.
The group however accepted these factors were largely outside of the County
Council’s control due to the changing Easter date. There was some general
discussion about how length of term can affect exam preparation, but the
group were supportive of the move to determining the school year several
years in advance to support long term planning, and that in each year there
were three weekends during the Christmas holidays, and two full weeks to
give staff a good break after a long autumn term.

Schools were invited to comment on the proposed pattern of dates via a
Schools’ Communication dated 4 September 2023, comments being required
by 29 September 2023. The full comments from three schools are provided in
Appendix 1 and are summarised below:

One school suggested it would be better to finish the autumn term on 19
December 2025, and then to finish the academic year on Monday 20 July
2026, which would reduce the length of the summer term and reduce
exhaustion. Another school commented on the early start to the academic
year on each of the proposed years and raised the impact of partial weeks on
attendance. A further school commented on the start date of the autumn term
in September 2025 creating a very long first half term. It was suggested that
the term could start two days later on 3 September 2025 and then conclude

Page 73



21.

22.

23.

24.

two days later on 19 December 2025.

Regarding the first response, the impact of a long academic year in the
summer was acknowledged, and it was agreed that most schools would use a
standalone Monday before the summer holidays as an inset day. However,
there was concern about increasing what was already a very long autumn
term, alongside worries about attendance should a school choose not to have
an inset day on the Monday before the summer holidays.

Regarding the second response, it was acknowledged that each proposed
calendar started on September 1, but no summer holidays were shorter in
length than 5 weeks and 3 days, and there was potential that by starting the
autumn term later, the summer term would finish very late in July. It was
noted that partial weeks are inevitable during the school year due to bank
holidays, and the requirement to have 195 school days.

Regarding the third response, the autumn term is the longest term each year
and it was acknowledged that eight weeks is a long half term to start. This
adjusted proposal would lead to a summer holiday in 2025 of six weeks in
length, and a late finish before the Christmas holidays, but the merit in the
proposal was acknowledged. The school also commented on the short spring
2 term in 2027 being only four weeks and four days long, and the impact this
had on GCSE preparation, but agreed that this was due to Easter being so
early in 2027.

Therefore, all comments were considered, and it was proposed that the
school year calendar be adjusted for the 2025/26 academic year from that
proposed in the consultation. The effect of this would be that the autumn term
starts later on Wednesday 3 September 2025 and concludes later on Friday
19 December 2025, which would reduce the first half of the autumn term and
provide a better balance for staff and pupils during that term. The two schools
who responded with differing views were contacted for their view on this
adjustment and they agreed that this provided a better balance for staff and
pupils in the 2025 autumn term. The other proposed term dates issued as
part of the consultation have not been adjusted as it was considered that they
continued to provide the best balance overall.

Climate Change Impact Assessment

25.

The decision for this report is to confirm the calendar that will apply to the
School Years 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28. It applies the usual restrictions
of 195 days for teacher attendance and 190 days of pupil attendance (380
sessions in the school year). The carbon mitigation tool and/or climate
change adaptation tool was not applicable because the decision to be made
is strategic/administrative in nature.

Page 74



Conclusions

26. The proposed patterns, in Appendix 2, with the amendment to the 2025/26
calendar, as outlined in section 15, are recommended to the Executive
Member for Education as accepted by the schools and best meeting the

requirements that are applied to designing the school year for 2025/26,
2026/27 and 2027/28.

Page 75



REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:

Links to the Strategic Plan

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic | Yes
growth and prosperity:

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent | Yes
lives:

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse Yes
environment:
People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, Yes

inclusive communities:

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives

Title

Working Together to Improve School Attendance Guidance
The Education Act 2002 - section 32

The Education Act 1996 — section 551(1)

The Education (School Day and School Year) (England)
Regulations 1999

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents

The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in
the Act.)

Document Location
None

Page 76



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-school-attendance

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:

Equality Duty

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to
have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:

Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct
prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out
in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation);

Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and
those who do not share it;

Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:

The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;

Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic
that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;

Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public
life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally
low.

Equalities Impact Assessment:

The school year will apply to all voluntary controlled and community schools. It will form
the basis for the school year in Hampshire academies, foundation, and voluntary aided
schools (which are able to set their own school year). It is also utilised by sixth form
providers. The setting of the school year has a neutral impact for all the protected
characteristic groups and other policy consideration groups.

Page 77



Appendix 1:

Consultation Comments:

School 1

“Regarding the 25/26, 26/27 and 27/28 school holiday proposals, please find the following
comments.

2025/2026 - Would it not make more sense to work the 18t and 19t December 2025 week
to make that a full 7 week half term, and then put those holiday dates back to 21st and

22nd July 2026? (We understand that this would then leave Monday 20t July 2026 as a
working day and schools would then most likely use that as an INSET day. This would
keep the Sum 2 half term to 7 weeks. We have had several comments from parents /
carers in our feedback that the children have had enough and are exhausted by then. If the
20t to 22" July are kept as school days, | can see that parents and carers will just take
their families away for those days and not be fined as they aren't 10 sessions.

Thank you in advance of considering our feedback.”
School 2
“As a school we would like to share our views on the next three years calendar.

For the past few years and for the next two, the County Council's insistence on starting the
school year ever earlier in September is resulting in disjointed weeks of holiday for school
staff. Some weeks leaving only four weeks of holiday together. This would be resolved if an
adjustment to previous date patterns was made. This would be easily conducted in the first
year with the removal of the longer Christmas break.

The current pattern over the past few years, and in these plans, leaves partial weeks where
parents/cares are more likely to remove children from school to save funds when travelling.
Similarly the same situation was forced upon us this year, with school's being forced to use
a day as an INSET to prevent these absence types.”

School 3
“Here is some feedback concerning School terms which are planned;

2025-2026

First half term is 8 weeks. This is very long. Suggestion — Start on 3 Sept and work to Dec
19t inc. This will give better balance on half terms and still have a two-week Christmas
holiday.

2026-2027

Spring 2 term is only 4.5 weeks which puts much pressure on GCSE preparation and
coursework subjects. | appreciate that it is due to Easter dates being so early but this does
have an impact operationally.

Thank you for the opportunity to consult on this.”

Page 78



Appendix 2: The proposal for 2025/26

SEPTEMBER 2025 I OCTOBER 2025 I NOVEMBER 2025
M| 1|8 |15] 22 |29 M 6 | 13 [20 |27 M 3*| 10 | 17 | 24
T|2|9]|16] 23 |30 T 7114 [21 |28 T 4111 |18 | 25
W| 3 |[10]17]| 24 W| 1 |8]|15 22|29 w 5|12 | 19 | 26
T|4|11]18]| 25 T|2|9]| 16 |23]30 T 6| 13 | 20 | 27
F|5|12]|19] 26 F| 3 |10/ 17 2; 31 F 7114 ] 21| 28
S| 6 [13|20] 27 S|4 /11| 18 |25 s 8|15 | 22 | 29
S| 7|14]21| 28 S| 5 12| 19 | 26 s 9|16 | 23 | 30
DECEMBER 2025 I JANUARY 2026 I FEBRUARY 2026
M| 1|8]|15] 22 |29 M 5+ | 12 | 19 | 26 M 2 9 | 16 | 23
T|2|9/|16] 23 |30 T 6 | 13 |20 |27 T 3110 | 17 | 24
w| 3 |10 1#7 24 | 31 w 7|14 |21 |28 w 4111 | 18 | 25
T| 4 |11]18 5 T 8 | 15 |22 |29 T 512 | 19 | 26
F| 5 |12 19 & F| 2|9 16 |23]|30 F 6 | 13% | 20 | 27
S| 6 |13]20]| 27 S| 3 |10] 17 | 24 |31 s 7114 | 21 | 28
S| 71421 28 S|4 11| 18 |25 s 8| 15 | 22
MAY 2026
M 2 M M
T 3 T T 5
w 4 w1 w 6
T 5 T2 T 7
F 6 13| 20 | % F 10| 17 | 24 F 1| 8 | 15 | 208 | 2
s 7 | 14| 21 |28 S| 4 |11] 18 | 25 s 2|1 9 |16 | 23 |30
S| 1[8/[15] 22 |29 S| 5 |12] 19 | 26 s 10 | 17 | 24 |31

M| 1|8 |15] 22 |29 M 6| 13 | 20 |27 M 310 17 | 24 X
T2 ]9 [16] 23 |30 T 7| 14 [ 21 [28 T 4] 11| 18] 25
W| 3 |10/|17] 24 w1 |8|15|% 29 W 512 | 19 | 26
T4 [11]18] 25 T2 [09] 16 [23]30 T 6| 13 | 20 | 27
F|5|12]19] 26 F|3 |10/ 17 |24]31 F 7114 ] 21| 28
s|6|13]20] 27 s|a|11] 18|25 s 8| 15| 22 | 29
s| 7 ]1a]21] 28 s| 5|12 19 |2 s 9| 16| 23 | 30

Page 79




Bank and Public Holidays 2025/2026
Christmas Day 25 December 2025 Easter Monday 6 April 2026
Boxing Day 26 December 2025 May Day Holiday 4 May 2026
New Year's Day Holiday 1 January 2026 Spring Bank Holiday 25 May 2026
Good Friday 3 April 2026 Summer Bank Holiday 31 August 2026
* First day after break School Holidays - Bank Holidays and National Holidays

# Last day before break

Autumn Term 2025 starts on Monday 1 September 2025 and ends on Wednesday 17
December 2025 (Half term from Monday 27 October to Friday 31 October 2025)

Spring Term 2026 starts on Monday 5 January 2026 and ends on Friday 27 March 2026
(Half term from Monday 16 February to Friday 20 February 2026)

Summer Term 2026 starts on Monday 13 April 2026 and ends on Wednesday 22 July
2026 (Half term from Monday 25 May to Friday 29 May 2026)

Term Start date End Date

1 September 2025 17 December 2025

Autumn 2025

Half term
27 October- 31 October 2025

5 January 2026 27 March 2026
Spring 2026
Half term
16 February - 20 February 2026
13 April 2026 22 July 2026
Summer 2026
Half term

25 May — 29 May 2026

Page 80




The proposal for 2026/27

SEPTEMBER 2026 I OCTOBER 2026 I NOVEMBER 2026
M 7 |14 21 |28 M 5| 12 | 19 | 26 M >| 9 | 16 | 23 | 30
T 1] 8]15] 22 |20 T 6 | 13 | 20 |27 T 3 | 10 | 17 | 24
wl|2]916] 23 [30 W 7 | 14 [ 2128 w 4] 11 ] 18| 25
1|3 [10]17] 24 T 1]8] 152220 T 5| 12 | 19 | 26
F|a4|11]18] 25 Fl2|o|16|% 30 F 6| 13 | 20 | 27
S| 5 1219] 2 s| 3|10/ 17 | 24|31 s 7114 | 21| 28
S| 61320 27 s| 4 [11] 18 |25 s 8| 15| 22 | 29

DECEMBER 2026
M 7 [ 14| 21 BB M 4| 11 | 18 | 25 M 1] 8 | 15 | 22¢
T 1]8]15] 22 |29 T 5] 12 |19 | 26 T 2] 9 |16 | 23
w|2[916] 23 |30 W 6 | 13 |20 | 27 W 3] 10 | 17 | 24
1] 3 [10 T 7 | 14 21 28 T 4| 11 [ 18| 25
Fla |11 F 8 | 15 | 22 | 29 F 5 | 12# | 19 | 26
s| 5 |12 s| 21916 23|30 s 6| 13| 20 | 27
s| 6|13 s 10| 17 | 24 | 31 s 71 14 | 21 | 28

MAY 2027

M| 1 M 5 M 3
T|2 T 6 T 4
w| 31017 ] 24 |31 w 7 | 14 |21 28 w 5| 12 | 19 | 26
T| 4 [11]18] 258 T 18] 15 [22]2 T 6| 13 | 20 | 27
Fls |21 BN Fl2]oa]16]23]30 F 7| 14 | 21 | 28#
S| 6 13|20 27 s|3[10]17 |2 s 8| 15 | 22 | 29
s|7|1a]21] 28 s| 4|11 1825 s 9| 16 | 23 | 30

M 7114 ] 21 | 28 M 5| 12 | 19 | 26 M 2] 9 [ 16 | 23 ES
T 1]8]15] 22 |20 T 6 | 13 | 20 | 27 T 3| 10 | 17 | 24 | 31
wl2|o9|16]| 23 |30 w 7|14 |3 |28 w 4| 11| 18 | 25
T3 [10]17] 24 T 1]8] 15 [22]20 T 5| 12 | 19 | 26
Fla|11]18] 25 F| 2|9/ 16]23]30 F 6| 13 | 20 | 27
s| 5 12/19] 2 S| 3 [10] 17 |24 |31 s 71 14| 21| 28
s|6 13|20 27 s| 4 [11] 18 |25 s 8 | 15 | 22 | 29

Page 81



Bank and Public Holidays 2026/2027
Christmas Day 25 December 2026 Easter Monday 29 March 2027
Boxing Day 26 December 2026 May Day Holiday 3 May 2027
New Year’s Day Holiday 1 January 2027 Spring Bank Holiday 31 May 2027
Good Friday 26 March 2027 Summer Bank Holiday 30 August 2027
* First day after break School Holidays - Bank Holidays and National Holidays

# Last day before break

Autumn Term 2026 starts on Tuesday 1 September 2026 and ends on Friday 18
December 2026 (Half term from Monday 26 October to Friday 30 October 2026)

Spring Term 2027 starts on Monday 4 January 2027 and ends on Thursday 25 March
2027 (Half term from Monday 15 February to Friday 19 February 2027)

Summer Term 2027 starts on Monday 12 April 2027 and ends on Wednesday 21 July
2027 (Half term from Monday 31 May to Friday 4 June 2027)

Term Start date End Date

1 September 2026 18 December 2026

Autumn 2026

Half term
26 October- 30 October 2026

4 January 2027 25 March 2027
Spring 2027
Half term
15 February - 19 February 2027
12 April 2027 21 July 2027
Summer 2027
Half term

31 May — 4 June 2027

Page 82



The proposal for 2027/28

SEPTEMBER 2027 I OCTOBER 2027 I NOVEMBER 2027
M 6 | 13| 20 |27 M 4 | 11 |18 |25 M 1| 8 15 | 22 | 29
T 7 114 21 |28 T 5112 |19 |26 T 2 9 16 | 23 | 30
W| 1| 8 |15| 22 |29 w 6 | 13 |20 | 27 w 3|10 | 17 | 24
T| 2|9 |16| 23 |30 T 7114 | 21|28 T 4 | 11 18 | 25
F| 3 [10|17| 24 F 8 | 15 2#2 29 F 5|12 | 19 | 26
S|4 11118 25 S 9 {16 |23 |30 S 6 | 13 | 20 | 27
S| 5112119 26 S 101 17 | 24 | 31 S 7114 | 21 | 28

DECEMBER 2027 JANUARY FEBRUARY 2028
M 6 | 13| 20 Wi M < 10 |17 (24 (31| | m 7 | 14 | 21* | 28
T 7 14| 21 B8 T 4*| 11 |18 |25 T 11 8 | 15 | 22 |29
w|1|8]|15| 22 |29 w 5112 |19 |26 w 2| 9 |16 | 23
T|2|9]|16] 23 |30 T 6 | 13 |20 |27 T 310 | 17 | 24

F| 3|10 1#7 24 | 31 F 7|14 |21 |28 F 4 | 11#| 18 | 25

S| 4 s 8 s 5

S| 5 s 9 s 6

MARCH 2028 RIL 2028 MAY 2028
M M 3 M

T T 4 T 2

W|1]|8]|15] 22 |29 w 5| 12 |19 |26 w 3110 | 17 | 24 |31
T|2|9]16] 23 |30 T 6 | 13 | 20|27 T 4111 | 18 | 25
F|3|10]|17] 24 f’; F 7 21 28 F 512 | 19 | 26#
S|4 1118 25 s 8 | 15 | 22 |29 s 6| 13| 20 | 27
S|5|12/19| 26 s 9 | 16 | 23 |30 s 7|14 | 21 | 28

M 5 (12| 19 |26 M 310 |17 |24 |31 [ m 7 | 14| 21 BB
T 6 13| 20 |27 T 4|11 18|25 T 1] 8 | 15 | 22 | 29
w 7 14| 21 |28 w 5| 12 [19 |26 w 2 9 |16 ] 23| 30
T 1|8 [15] 22 |29 T 6 | 13 |20 |27 T 310 | 17 | 24 | 31
Fl2|o9/|16] 23 |30 F 7 [ 14 2|28 F 411 | 18 | 25
s|3(10(17] 24 s 8| 15 |22 | 29 s 5 12|19 | 26
s|4|11]18] 25 s 9| 16 |23 |30 s 6| 13 | 20 | 27

Page 83



Bank and Public Holidays 2027/2028
Christmas Day 25 December 2027 Easter Monday 17 April 2028
Boxing Day 26 December 2027 May Day Holiday 1 May 2028
New Year's Day Holiday 3 January 2028 Spring Bank Holiday 29 May 2028
Good Friday 14 April 2028 Summer Bank Holiday 28 August 2028
* First day after break School Holidays - Bank Holidays and National Holidays

# Last day before break

Autumn Term 2027 starts on Wednesday 1 September 2027 and ends on Friday 17
December 2027

(Half term from Monday 25 October to Friday 29 October 2027)

Spring Term 2028 starts on Tuesday 4 January 2028 and ends on Friday 31 March 2028
(Half term from Monday 14 February to Friday 18 February 2028)

Summer Term 2028 starts on Tuesday 18 April 2028 and ends on Friday 21 July 2028
(Half term from Monday 29 May to Friday 2 June 2028)

Term Start date End Date

1 September 2027 17 December 2027

Autumn 2027

Half term
25 October- 29 October 2027

4 January 2028 31 March 2028
Spring 2028
Half term
14 February - 18 February 2028
18 April 2028 21 July 2028
Summer 2028
Half term

29 May — 2 June 2028

Page 84




The adjusted proposal for 2025/26 following consultation with schools and unions

SEPTEMBER 2025 I OCTOBER 2025 I NOVEMBER 2025
M| 18|15 22 |29 M 6 | 13 | 20|27 M 3| 10 | 17 | 24
T2 9|16] 23 |30 T 7| 14 |21 28 T 411 )18 25
w3 [10]17] 24 w| 1|8/ 15 22]29 w 5 12| 19 | 26
T4 [11]18] 25 T 209 16 |23]30 T 6 | 13 | 20 | 27
Fl5 12|19 26 Fl 3 |10|17 |% a1 F 7114 | 21 | 28
s| 6 |13|20] 27 S| 4 [11] 18 | 25 s 8| 15 | 22 | 29
s| 7 |14|21] 28 s| 5 [12] 19 | 26 s 9| 16 | 23 | 30

DECEMBER 2025 I JANUARY 2026 I FEBRUARY 2026
m|1]8][15] 22 |29 M 5 | 12 | 19| 26 M 2] 9 |16 | 23
T2 ]0916] 23 |30 T 6 | 13 | 20|27 T 3| 10 | 17 | 24
wl| 3 [10]17] 24 |31 w 7| 14 [21]28 w 4 11|18 25
T4 [11]18 B8 T 8 | 15 | 22 | 29 T 5 12| 19 | 26
Fls|12]) RS Fl2|o9]16]23]30 F 6 | 13# | 20 | 27
s| 6 |13|20] 27 s| 3 [10] 17 |24 | 31 s 7114 ] 21| 28
S| 7 14|21 28 s| 4 |11 1825 s 8| 15 | 22

M 2 M M
T 3 T T 5
w 4 w1 w 6
T 5 T2 T 7
F 6 13| 20 | % F10 17 | 24 F 1| 8 | 15 | 208 | 2
s 7 | 14| 21 |28 S| 4 |11] 18 | 25 s 2|1 9 |16 | 23 |30
S| 1[8/[15] 22 |29 S| 5 |12] 19 | 26 s 10 | 17 | 24 |31

M| 1|8 |15] 22 |29 M 6| 13 | 20 |27 M 310 17 | 24 X
T2 ]9 [16] 23 |30 T 7| 14 [ 21 [28 T 4] 11| 18] 25
W| 3 |10/|17] 24 w1 |8|15|% 29 W 512 | 19 | 26
T4 [11]18] 25 T2 [09] 16 [23]30 T 6| 13 | 20 | 27
F|5|12]19] 26 F|3 |10/ 17 |24]31 F 7114 ] 21| 28
s|6|13]20] 27 s|a|11] 18|25 s 8| 15| 22 | 29
s| 7 ]1a]21] 28 s| 5|12 19 |2 s 9| 16| 23 | 30

Page 85




Bank and Public Holidays 2025/2026
Christmas Day 25 December 2025 Easter Monday 6 April 2026
Boxing Day 26 December 2025 May Day Holiday 4 May 2026
New Year's Day Holiday 1 January 2026 Spring Bank Holiday 25 May 2026
Good Friday 3 April 2026 Summer Bank Holiday 31 August 2026
* First day after break School Holidays - Bank Holidays and National Holidays

# Last day before break

Autumn Term 2025 starts on Wednesday 3 September 2025 and ends on Friday 19
December 2025 (Half term from Monday 27 October to Friday 31 October 2025)

Spring Term 2026 starts on Monday 5 January 2026 and ends on Friday 27 March 2026
(Half term from Monday 16 February to Friday 20 February 2026)

Summer Term 2026 starts on Monday 13 April 2026 and ends on Wednesday 22 July
2026 (Half term from Monday 25 May to Friday 29 May 2026)

Term Start date End Date

3 September 2025 19 December 2025

Autumn 2025

Half term
27 October- 31 October 2025

5 January 2026 27 March 2026
Spring 2026
Half term
16 February - 20 February 2026
13 April 2026 22 July 2026
Summer 2026
Half term

25 May — 29 May 2026

Page 86




	Agenda
	1 Permission to Consult on Proposed Changes to Post-16 Policy
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to advise the Executive Leader Member of Children’s Services on proposed changes to the Hampshire County Council Post-16 Transport Policy Statement (the Policy) for 2024, and to seek permission to consult on these changes.
	Recommendation(s)
	2.	That the Executive Lead Member of Children’s Services gives approval to proceed with a public consultation on the proposed changes to the Policy, with a further report to determine the Post-16 Transport Policy Statement for 2024 to be presented at a future Executive Member Decision Day by 31 May 2024.
	Executive Summary
	3.	The County Council is required by law to consult on its Post-16 Transport Policy every year. This report seeks permission from the Executive Lead Member to consult on proposed changes to the Policy for students, including those with special educational needs.
	4.	There is no automatic entitlement to local authority funded school or college transport once a student is over the age of 16. The County Council has considered its resources and the travel to college opportunities for students. Students can attend a college or school of choice and, if needed, apply to their education provider’s student support for assistance.
	5.	The County Council recognises that some families may need a transport service to ensure that 16+ students with special needs or disabilities can access an education placement that is suitable for their needs and so do offer, under discretionary powers, a transport service that requires an annual parental contribution.
	6.	The proposed changes to the Policy, as outlined in Paragraphs 10 – 24, are:
		Annual increase in parental contributions in line with the Consumer Price Index
		Update to the wording of the Independent Travel Training section
		Explanation of Appeal and Complaints Process
		Minor amendments to wording for clarity.

	7.	The proposed changes are intended to align Post-16 Policy with DfE statutory guidance and terminology used within the School Transport Policy, and so that charges rise in line with the increase in the cost of transport provision for Post-16 students.
	8.	The Policy would continue to allow for parental contribution charges to be waived when parents/carers are on a low income, in receipt of certain benefits or if the student is in receipt of free school meals. Families with exceptional circumstances can also apply for a discretionary waiver or reduction in parental contributions.
	9.	In 2022/23, for approximately 76.7% of Post 16 eligible students, the parental contribution was waived due to low income, in receipt of benefits, free school meals or exceptional circumstances.
	Proposed Policy Changes
	10.	Parental Contributions Uplift (September 2024, and annually): The County Council proposes an increase in the parental contributions to Post-16 transport arrangements in line with inflation (Consumer Price Index (CPI)) from September 2024, with inflation-linked increases applied in subsequent years.
	11.	The Policy outlines the level of contribution that will be applied to Post-16 transport but does not currently allow for contributions to be uplifted each year.
	12.	Transport costs have risen significantly above inflation over the last year and the County Council has experienced this cost pressure. The average cost per student for post-16 transport has increased by 27.1% during this time to a total of £3.7m across the Service.
	13.	It is proposed that contributions are uplifted in line with CPI each year, and the wording will be changed in the Policy to reflect this.
	14.	If this proposal is approved following consultation, an inflationary increase would be applied to the contribution for Post-16 transport arrangements. This would be applied in September 2024 and to subsequent academic years in line with inflation (CPI).
	15.	This proposal will result in an increase in the amount of parental contribution received but this will only partially offset the rise in costs already experienced and funded by the County Council. Parents would continue to contribute towards the costs of the transport arrangement, with the County Council funding the remaining amount as in previous years.
	16.	If the County Council were to continue to absorb the increased cost of the transport arrangements, this would impact and reduce the limited resources available for other essential services for vulnerable children.
	17.	The County Council offer the facility to pay Post 16 parental contributions in instalments on a termly basis.
	18.	For 76.7% of Post 16 eligible students in 2022/2023, the parental contribution was waived due to low income, in receipt of benefits, free school meals or exceptional circumstances. Parental contributions will continue to be waived under such circumstances in 2024/25.
	19.	The County Council works to limit the spend on school transport wherever possible, whilst ensuring statutory requirements continue to be met. There are robust procurement processes in place where the School Transport Service regularly review contracts to optimise and obtain best value. The County Council also continue to work with central government to maximise funding for vulnerable young people, and to ensure the challenges in respect of the increasing spend on local authority funded school transport is recognised nationally.
	20.	If this proposal is approved following consultation, an inflationary increase would be applied to the existing contributions. This would be applied in September 2024 in line with the CPI rate for March 2024, and then annually each September, based on the CPI rate in March of that calendar year.
	21.	To illustrate how this would be calculated, the table below shows the existing parental contributions for Post-16 transport, and the value of these contributions if they were to be uplifted by the latest rate of CPI (6.7% based on the 12 months to August 2023).
	22.	Independent Travel Training: The County Council proposes updating the language, wording and level of detail regarding Independent Travel Training within Section 7 of the Post-16 Transport Policy Statement, to bring it in line with the proposed changes in the School Transport Policy.
	23.	Explanation of Appeal and Complaints Process: The County Council proposes to update the Policy to improve the explanation of the Appeal and Complaints processes, bringing it in line with improvements to the wording in the proposed School Transport Policy which have been drafted based on the latest DfE statutory guidance.
	24.	Minor amendments to wording for clarity: The County Council proposes to make minor amendments to the wording within the Policy for better clarity. These include:
	To add: ‘2. General Transport Available – The following link provides the information supplied by colleagues and sixth form establishments.’
	Update to ‘Other transport support’ section and remove the link to ‘Brain in Hand’ as this is not relevant to the Policy.
	Any other minor changes to wording to improve clarity.

	Contextual information
	25.	The Policy details the offer for sixth form age students aged 16 - 19 and adult students with an Education Health and Care Plan or a disability to the age of 25. The proposed Policy Statement explains that the County Council will provide local authority funded transport, when it is necessary, to facilitate attendance. It also explains, that where the young person is aged under 18, the expectation of the County Council is that parents or carers will be responsible for transporting their child, but individual circumstances of families will be considered when making eligibility decisions.
	26.	The Policy Statement is determined within a statutory timetable before the end of May each calendar year.
	Finance

	27.	The current expenditure on school transport is just over £50 million per annum for the 2022/23 financial year, of which £3.7 million was spent on Post-16 transport assistance. Expenditure has risen by 47% from £34 million per annum in the previous financial year.
	28.	Within this context, the costs associated with Post 16 transport have increased by 27.1% over the last financial year.
	29.	The County Council currently fund a high proportion of the cost of Post 16 transport arrangement from revenue budgets, with parental contributions funding the remaining proportion. Whilst the County Council will continue to fund the majority of this cost, absorbing the increased cost of the transport arrangements would impact and reduce the limited resources available for other essential services for vulnerable children.
	30.	The County Council offer the facility to pay Post 16 parental contributions in instalments on a termly basis.
	31.	For 76.7% of Post 16 eligible students in 2022/2023, the parental contribution was waived due to low income, in receipt of benefits, free school meals or exceptional circumstances. Parental contributions will continue to be waived under such circumstances.
	32.	The County Council work to limit the spend on school transport wherever possible, whilst ensuring statutory requirements continue to be met. There are robust procurement processes in place where the School Transport Service regularly review contracts to optimise and obtain best value. Hampshire County Council also continue to work with central government to maximise funding for vulnerable young people, and to ensure the challenges in respect of the increasing spend on local authority funded school transport is recognised nationally.
	Consultation and Equalities
	33.	The consultation would seek views on the proposed changes to the Policy.
	34.	Consultation on the Policy will be separate to the overall School Transport Policy consultation; however the intention is that it will run in parallel against the same timescales.
	35.	It is proposed that the consultation lasts for 35 working days during term time, commencing from 30 October 2023 to 15 December 2023. During this time, views would be sought, including those of service users, their parents, providers, schools and other stakeholders.
	36.	The consultation would be published online on the County Council’s website at: Consultations | About the Council | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk). Responses to the consultation could be made by calling, emailing or writing to the school transport service. Details would be provided on the above website and the School Transport website.
	37.	Communications to service users, parents, schools and other stakeholders to inform them of the proposed changes and provide opportunities to contribute their views would be made through multiple channels by the County Council.
	38.	If the recommendation to proceed to public consultation on the proposed changes is agreed, a further report would be brought to the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services by 31 May 2024 to share the findings of the consultation.
	39.	An initial Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is provided in Appendix A. Outcomes from the consultation would also be used to complete an Equality Impact Assessment, presented to the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services.
	Recommendations

	40.	That the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services:
	Gives approval to proceed with a public consultation on the proposed changes to the Post-16 Policy Statement for 2024, with a further report setting out the findings of the consultation to be presented at a future Executive Member Decision Day, by 31 May 2024.

	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	41.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the County Council does.
	42.	The carbon mitigation tool and climate change adaptation tool were not applicable because the decision relates to the annual determination of a statutory policy for determining the eligibility for local authority funded transport assistance for students aged 16 to 25. This is the first administrative step in meeting the duty to support post-16 students’ journeys to and from their educational setting as it will ensure that help is provided when it is necessary to facilitate attendance.
	43.	The policy is important for meeting Hampshire County Councils’ strategic priorities as it provides an opportunity for local authority funded transport that enables young people to get a good start in life and assists in overcoming inequality. Also, the Post 16 Transport Policy Statement helps people with special educational needs and/or a disability to find and access support within the community.
	Equality Impact Assessment
	44.	Outcomes from the consultation would be used to complete an Equality Impact Assessment, presented to the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services as part of the consultation final report.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	Other Significant Links
	Equality Impact Assessment

	2 Permission to Consult on Proposed Changes to School Transport Policy
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to advise the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services on proposed changes to the Hampshire County Council School Transport Policy. The report seeks permission to consult on the changes to the School Transport Policy.

	Recommendation(s)
	2.	That the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services:
	Gives approval to proceed with a public consultation on the proposed changes to the School Transport Policy with a further report setting out the findings of the consultation to be presented at a future Executive Member Decision Day in the first quarter of the 2024 financial year.

	Executive Summary
	3.	This report seeks permission from the Executive Lead Member to consult on proposed changes to the School Transport Policy for children, including those with special educational needs.
	4.	The proposed changes to the School Transport Policy outlined in the five proposals (paragraphs 15 to 59) would enable the County Council to be better able to provide flexible transport arrangements for children that respond to their changing needs, demand and external market pressures. The proposed changes would also bring the School Transport Policy in line with the updated Department for Education statutory guidance on Travel to School for Children of Compulsory School Age.
	5.	The current expenditure on school transport is just over £50 million per annum for the 2022/23 financial year. Expenditure has risen by 47% from £34 million per annum in the previous financial year.
	6.	The School Transport Service is under substantial budget pressure. The rise in the number of children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) requiring transport and significant national issues with the external transport market have led to the significant rise in expenditure.
	7.	If the proposals set out in the consultation are approved, changes would be implemented across the 2024 financial year.
	8.	The County Council is not proposing to change eligibility criteria for School Transport or to remove the service from existing service users. Regardless of any decisions made, the County Council would continue to meet its statutory requirements in respect of school transport.
	9.	There are no expected savings as a result of any of the proposals.

	Contextual and background information
	10.	The County Council provides transport assistance for eligible children to attend school. This statutory service is largely provided to Hampshire children attending their catchment or nearest suitable school but living over two or three miles (depending on age) from school, as well as specialist school transport for children with Special Education Needs, a disability or mobility problems. Transport assistance is provided where children meet national eligibility criteria.
	11.	Expenditure on school transport has increased by £16 million from £34 million in 2021/ 22 to over £50 million in 2022/23. There are several factors that have contributed to these increasing costs:
		Nationally, the number of Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) for children with SEND has been increasing at a rate of over 10% per annum since 2014. A rise in EHCPs typically leads to a rise in demand for transport. This is resulting in higher demand for transport overall, and at times, a requirement for more complex travel arrangements.
		There is a higher demand for specialist school places, which are spread over a wider geographical area and require more specialist travel arrangements to ensure the needs of children are met.
		External market factors affecting the transport market have meant that costs have risen significantly for operators, and the costs are being passed on to the County Council.
	12.	The purpose of the proposed changes to the Policy, outlined in paragraphs 15 to 59, is to enable the County Council to provide flexible transport arrangements that can respond to children’s changing needs, demand and external market pressures as well as updating the Policy to reflect the updated Department for Education travel to school for children of compulsory school age statutory guidance.

	Regulation/ statutory duties
	13.	It is the responsibility of the local authority under the Education Act 1996 to provide school transport, free of charge, for children of compulsory school age in certain circumstances as prescribed by the legislation.
	Proposed Policy Changes
	14.	The Policy changes which the County Council proposes to consult on are set out in paragraphs 15 to 59.
	15.	Proposal One: For Personal Transport Budgets (PTB) to be available to families where a child’s needs or circumstances mean that suitable transport is difficult to find, or not available at all, in the local operator market.
	16.	For the large majority of eligible children, traditional ways of providing Transport Assistance are successful at making their journey to school safe and without undue stress, strain or difficulty.  However, in some situations more flexibility is needed.
	17.	Sometimes there are situations where a child’s needs or circumstances mean that suitable transport is difficult to find, or not available at all, in the local operator market. For example, a child may require an adapted vehicle that is not available locally, or require skilled support tailored to their individual needs. In those cases, the County Council would like the ability to offer parents a PTB to enable them to make suitable travel arrangements for transport and/or passenger assistant support.
	18.	The current Policy includes a range of options to assist eligible children to travel to school. Parents can currently choose to accept a Parental Mileage Allowance to cover costs with approximately 350 eligible children currently travelling this way.
	19.	Introducing a PTB would offer flexible options for families to make suitable travel arrangements tailored to a child’s individual needs.
	20.	A PTB may be explored at the request of a parent, schools or where the County Council thinks it could be suitable. The parent would not be obliged to accept a PTB and the arrangement would only be put in place where it is agreed between the County Council and the parent as the best means of supporting them.
	22.	For the majority of service users there would be no change in their transport provision. For a small number of children with needs best met by an alternative arrangement the School Transport service will investigate to see whether a Personal Transport Budget would allow for their needs to be met more effectively.
	23.	If this proposal is agreed, it is anticipated that Personal Transport Budgets would be offered in circumstances where that is the most appropriate option.
	36.	Proposal Three: The regular review of the provision of Passenger Assistants.
	37.	A Passenger Assistant (PA) is assigned to support eligible children on school transport provided by County Council’s School Transport Service to and from school. Their role is to enable children to travel safely and arrive at school ready and able to learn. For example, children with Learning Difficulties can become anxious during their journey to school. When they get to school, they can be too anxious to learn for quite a time. A Passenger Assistant could be assigned to provide support, so these children arrive at school in a calm state of mind and ready to benefit fully from their school time.
	38.	The County Council employ approximately 550 PAs to support children on school transport across the County who are assigned based on the needs of the child. On occasion a PA is assigned based on the combined needs of children in a vehicle as opposed just to the needs of one child.
	39.	At present, once a PA is assigned to support a child, this arrangement is not reviewed on a regular basis to take into account any changes in the child’s needs or circumstances.
	40.	The County Council understands that some children will always need the support of a PA on their journey to and from school. Where this is the case, there will be no intention to trigger a regular review of a PA.
	41.	Children’s needs in relation to support on school transport may change over time. Some may become more independent; for others, their needs may increase.
	42.	In order to ensure the right level of support is provided for children, there will be times where a review of the provision of a PA should be conducted to ensure the travel arrangement is safe and suitable for the child’s current situation.
	43.	It is proposed that the School Transport Policy is amended to allow for the regular review of the requirement for a Passenger Assistant. The review would take into account information received and in consultation with all relevant parties and would take place at such a time as decided by the local authority, based on the child’s needs.
	44.	If approved, from the Summer term 2024, the County Council would start to review the provision of PAs.
	45.	Parents, schools or passenger assistants themselves would be able to trigger a review if they have information that demonstrates that a child currently without a PA needs support, or a child currently with a PA allocated can travel without this support.
	46.	By allowing for the regular review of passenger assistants, the County Council would be able to optimise the PA workforce, and support children as their needs change.
	47.	Proposal Four: Where parents are required to make a financial contribution to discretionary school transport arrangements, to increase this contribution in line with inflation (Consumer Price Index (CPI)) from September 2024, with inflation-linked increases also being applied in future years.
	48.	Currently the School Transport Policy outlines the level of contribution that will be applied to spare capacity seats (previously referred to as privilege seats) where a spare place on a contract vehicle may be offered to a child who is not entitled to transport assistance and other discretionary arrangements. The current Policy does not allow for contributions to be uplifted each year.
	49.	Transport costs have risen significantly above inflation over the last year and the County Council has absorbed this cost pressure. The proposed increase in discretionary charges would bring them in line with the overall rise in transport costs.
	50.	It is proposed that contributions are uplifted in line with CPI each year.
	51.	If this proposal is approved following consultation, an inflationary increase would be applied to the contribution for spare capacity seats and discretionary arrangements. This would be applied in September 2024 in line with the CPI rate for March 2024, and then annually each September, based on the CPI rate in March of that calendar year.
	52.	These charges would only apply to a small number of children (approximately 200) who receive discretionary transport arrangements and would not affect children that are entitled to free transport assistance.
	53.	Proposal Five: The rewording and updating of the Policy to ensure it reflects the latest Department for Education statutory guidance (Travel to School for children of compulsory school age, issued June 2023� Travel to school for children of compulsory school age - June 2023
), is relevant to the Service and is easy to understand.
	54.	Any changes to the School Transport Policy are required by law to be subject to a public consultation.
	55.	The Policy has been added to and amended in specific circumstances over several years to include changes that have been consulted on and approved by the Executive Member for Children’s Services.
	56.	The Department for Education have updated the statutory guidance for Travel to school for children of compulsory school age and the current HCC School Transport Policy requires updating to bring it into line with this latest guidance. In addition, some of the wording and language has been revised to ensure that it is clear and easy to understand.
	57.	In line with the most recent DfE guidance, the following sections are proposed to be updated in the Policy:
	58.	It is proposed that a number of updates are made throughout the Policy document to provide clarity in wording and language, ensure the Policy is relevant to the current School Transport Service, and to reflect the most recent DfE guidance.
	59.	Example of changes are given below, and a copy of the proposed Policy with all changes highlighted is included in Appendix A:
	60.	A draft of the amended School Transport Policy has been attached in Appendix A of this report. Changes are indicated by a red font.
	Engagement and process for consultation
	61.	The consultation would seek views on the proposed changes to the School Transport Policy. These changes may affect eligible and non-eligible children, including those in receipt of discretionary travel arrangements, those attending mainstream schools, and those attending special schools.
	62.	It is proposed that the consultation lasts for 35 working days during term time, commencing from 30 October 2023 to 15 December 2023. During this time, views would be sought, including those of service users, their parents, providers, schools and other stakeholders.
	63.	The consultation would be published online on the County Council’s website at: Consultations | About the Council | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk). An Easy-Read version of the consultation document would also be made available along with paper, braille and translation copies on request.
	64.	Children and young people, their parents or carers, and other stakeholders would also have the opportunity to attend consultation events. These events would be advertised on the County Council’s consultation webpage, in press releases and using the County Council’s social media channels.
	65.	Providers of school transport and other stakeholders would be contacted by the County Council about the consultation to inform them of the proposed changes and provide opportunities to contribute their views.
	66.	If the recommendation to proceed to public consultation on the proposed changes is agreed, a further report would be brought to the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services early in the 2024/25 financial year, to share the findings of the consultation. Outcomes from the consultation would also be used to complete an Equality Impact Assessment, presented to the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services.
	Legal Implications
	67.	The school transport statutory guidance published by the Department for Education states that local authorities should consult on proposed changes to Policy. A consultation is proposed to gather public feedback on the proposed changes.
	Recommendation(s)
	69.	That the Executive Lead Member for Children’s Services:
	Gives approval to proceed with a public consultation on the proposed changes to the School Transport Policy with a further report setting out the findings of the consultation to be presented at a future Executive Member Decision Day, likely to be in the first quarter of the 2024/25 financial year.

	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	70.	The County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2°C temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does. The tools would be applied following the outcome of the consultation.
	Equality Impact Assessment
	71.	An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out and is attached in Appendix B of this report.  If permission is granted to consult, then it is intended that another EIA be carried out following the completion of the consultation.


	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	Other Significant Links
	Appendix A – Proposed draft Policy
	1. BACKGROUND AND SCOPE OF THE POLICY
	2.	LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES FOR TRANSPORTING CHILDREN TO/FROM SCHOOL
	2.1.	Parents have a legal duty and a responsibility to make the necessary arrangements to ensure that their child of compulsory school age attends school regularly. For most parents, this means making arrangements for their child to travel to and from school.
	3. DEFINITION OF ‘ELIGIBLE CHILDREN’.
	Compulsory school age
	Statutory walking distances
	Extended rights eligibility
	Unsafe routes
	Special educational needs (SEN), a disability or mobility problems
	Parental Preference for children with EHC Plans
	Primary Age Siblings
	Accompaniment
	Definition of Home Address
	School choice
	Exclusion
	5.	DISCRETIONARY TRANSPORT ARRANGEMENTS – CHARGEABLE
	Spare Capacity Seats
	Part-time attendance
	Journey times of more than 75 minutes
	Religion or belief
	Delays
	Errors
	Complaints/Appeals
	Contacts
	Schedule of Charges for Discretionary Arrangements
	Exceptions to Policy
	School Transport - Review/Appeals Process
	Stage one: Review by a Senior Officer

	3 Additional Specialist Education Provision
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Report
	Purpose of this Report
	Recommendation(s)
	2.	That approval be given to consult on the establishment of a satellite provision for Riverside Community Special School utilising existing accommodation at Mill Hill Primary school from January 2024.
	3.	That a further report is brought back to the Executive Member for Education following the public consultation period for final approval.

	Executive Summary
	4.	Hampshire County Council is committed to ensuring that all children can access high-quality education, as near to their family and local community as possible.
	7.	The proposed additional SEND provision outlined within this report will help manage some of the school place pressures generated by the increase in the number of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) maintained by the Local Authority.
	8.	As of August 2023, the number of maintained EHCPs was 15,753.   By 2030-31, Hampshire expect there to be c28,000 pupils who will have an EHCP if practices continue as they currently are.
	9.	Demand has resulted in a corresponding pressure for places in special schools and resourced provision. The County Council is committed to further developing successful provision or creating new provision where possible to meet demand for places.
	10.	The lack of sufficient provision within Hampshire Schools has led to an increase in placements within the independent and non-maintained sector (INMSS). The proposals contained within this report aim to build on good quality Hampshire school provision and meet the needs of children and young people within their local area. This will reduce the Local Authority’s dependence upon independent and non-maintained provision (INMSS) and will aim to keep pupils as close to their home community as possible.
	11.	All Local Authorities have a duty to promote sustainable and active travel to school. Hampshire is made up of diverse urban and rural communities which can cause long travel times for already vulnerable children. However, having closer local provision minimises school transport costs and travel times.
	Contextual information
	12.	Riverside Community Special School is rated by Ofsted as a Good School.  Please see link to their most recent Ofsted Report:- 50227688 (ofsted.gov.uk).
	13.	The school provides specialist support for 137 pupils with moderate learning difficulties (MLD), SLD and autism spectrum conditions (ASC). All pupils attending the school have an EHCP.
	14.	Parental demand for the school continues to be high – the Local Authority has expanded the school three times in recent years.  The school continues to be subject to increasing numbers of Tribunals where it has been directed.
	15.	There are more Tribunals expected in the coming weeks with appeals expected if placements cannot be agreed.
	16.	The school has expanded in size and increased its Agreed Pupil Numbers (APN) each year to keep up with the requirements. However further short-term sustainable development on the site is not possible.
	17.	Net Capacity Assessments (NCAs) NCA Programme Guide (pubishing.service.gov.uk) have been used for mainstream schools for several years.  The NCA tool and methodology is used to calculate the number of children a school can accommodate, based on the size and use of the space available. Recently the DfE created an NCA tool for special schools also.
	18.	The NCA for Riverside Community Special School suggests that the accommodation is suitable for 121 pupils however the current APN is 137. The current number on roll is 138. The Tribunal process often continues to place additional pupils at the school even when it takes total numbers beyond the NCA and APN.  This can affect safeguarding, health, and safety, staffing and the quality of education being provided at the school.
	19.	Mill Hill Primary School has available accommodation – this is an adjoining building, not utilised by the school and currently rented to Growing Places Ltd a third-party who use part of it for after-school and holiday provision together with a Community Pantry.  The building is of a size that enables Growing Places to retain the Community Pantry and a room for the after-school club with their own access. Two classrooms and other ancillary facilities, including an external play space will then be segregated for use by Riverside School.

	Finance
	20.	Costs to educate within a special school are considerably less that in the independent non maintained sector (INMSS) as the table below illustrates.
	21.	It is expected that the special school place funding will be a mix of both step 5 and step 6*; dependent on individual needs this will be c£215K per year. Costs shown in Appendix 1 are currently being analysed and assured by finance colleagues.
	22.	The spaces being made available at Mill Hill Primary School require some minor works to make them appropriate for use by pupils with severe learning disabilities.  A range of refurbishment works, upgraded toilet area, sensory room, safeguarding measures, and a new segregated play space area are required.  Estimates for these works are in the region of £350,000 and will be funded in full from the Childrens Service Capital Programme.
	Consultation and Equalities
	23.	A four-week statutory consultation will be undertaken in October & November 2023 if this proposal to consult is agreed.
	24.	An equality impact assessment has been submitted and draft included in appendix 2 below.

	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	25.	No Climate Change Impact Assessment has been completed at the time of writing this paper. If the proposal is agreed, then one will be completed and it will follow.
	Other Key Issues
	26.	Riverside Community Special School is at full capacity; therefore, we are unable to safely place any other additional pupils.
	Conclusion
	27.	The proposals contained within this report aim to build on good quality Hampshire special school provision and meet the needs of children and young people within their local settings.
	28.	This will reduce the Local Authority’s dependence upon independent and non-maintained provision (INMSS) and will aim to keep pupils as close to their home community as possible.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic.
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it.
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.
	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:
	Please see Appendix 2 below for draft Equalities Impact Assessment supporting this proposal.



	4 School Term and Holiday Dates for 2025-26, 2026-27 and 2027-28
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Member for Education on the need to decide the pattern of school term and holiday dates for the school years 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28, to note some changes to this process adopted by the County Council and to note the outcomes of the consultation process that has been followed.
	Recommendation
	2.	It is recommended that the Executive Member for Education:
	3.	Approves the school term and holiday dates that have been consulted upon with all schools and considered by the County Council’s Schools Union Group, for the school year 2025/26, as set out in appendix 2 of the report, with an adjustment to the start date of the autumn term from 1 September 2025 to 3 September 2025 and an adjustment to the end date of the autumn term from 17 December 2025 to 19 December 2025.
	4.	Approves the school term and holiday dates that have been consulted upon with all schools and considered by the County Council’s Schools Union Group, for the school years 2026/27 and 2027/28 as set out in appendix 2 of the report.
	Executive Summary
	5.	This report seeks to inform the Executive Member for Education on the need to decide the pattern of school term and holiday dates for the school years 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28, and recommends the term and holiday dates that have been subject to a consultation process with Hampshire schools.
	Contextual information
	6.	It is the responsibility of a local authority to schedule a school year which provides the statutory 190 pupil days (380 sessions) and 195 teacher days in voluntary controlled and community schools. The structure for delivering this entitlement has been the subject of national and local debate for many years. The Local Government Association (LGA) National Standing Committee on the School Year has, in the past, been active in seeking to establish a National School Year but this process has now ended.
	7.	In previous years, Hampshire has determined the school year 18 months before the start of each school year, with the 2024/25 school year determined in February 2023 by the Executive Member, following consultation with Hampshire schools and staff and engagement with the Conditions of Service Working Party (CoSWoP).
	8.	A new approach has been adopted by the County Council to determine the school year, to support longer term planning for schools, senior leaders and staff, as well as for parents and the Local Authority which entails determining several school years in advance. It also includes engaging and seeking views and comments from the Schools Union Group as this is considered more representative of the entire schools’ workforce.
	9.	The effect of these changes is that:
	10.	three school years have been proposed, 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28 for the Executive Member decision day on 19 October 2023.
	11.	In autumn 2024, the school year 2028/29 will be consulted on and brought to the Executive Member Decision Day for determination. This will continue annually, when the school year approximately four years away will be determined to support long term planning in the Hampshire school system.
	12.	Legal advice has been sought and considered before the County Council adopted this new approach. The approach is consistent with several other Local Authorities in England.
	13.	The Joint Council for Qualifications have confirmed that GCSE and A-level examinations are not scheduled during the week of the late Spring Bank Holiday in May. Therefore, examinations would not be scheduled on the Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday of Friday of that week.
	14.	The proposals for 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28 are attached to this document as appendix 2. The proposed school years try to take account of balanced half terms for holiday periods where possible, including trying to ensure two full weeks for both the Christmas and Easter holidays, including three weekends across both. The other dates for holidays fit a sensible pattern based on the positioning of the Easter weekend and the bank holidays in May.
	Finance
	15.	There are no financial implications.
	Performance
	16.	The determination of dates several years in advance, supports longer term planning for schools, senior leaders, and staff, as well as the County Council.
	17.	The early determination of dates enables families to plan holidays and arrange childcare so that school attendance need not be compromised. Children benefit from good attendance in school; it supports educational achievement and lays the foundation for a positive contribution to society and economic well-being. Properly structured periods of learning and rest help children to remain healthy, enjoy their school time and achieve more.
	Consultation and Equalities
	18.	The Schools Union Group were invited to comment on the proposed pattern of dates at their meeting on Tuesday 19 September 2023. The group discussed the impact of the changing Easter date on the length of some terms, how going from an early Easter Sunday (as in March 2027) to a late Easter Sunday (as in April 2028), made the intervening year more demanding for staff and with reference to March 2027 asked if any work had been done to understand the impact on attendance of finishing on Maundy Thursday. The group however accepted these factors were largely outside of the County Council’s control due to the changing Easter date. There was some general discussion about how length of term can affect exam preparation, but the group were supportive of the move to determining the school year several years in advance to support long term planning, and that in each year there were three weekends during the Christmas holidays, and two full weeks to give staff a good break after a long autumn term.
	19.	Schools were invited to comment on the proposed pattern of dates via a Schools’ Communication dated 4 September 2023, comments being required by 29 September 2023. The full comments from three schools are provided in Appendix 1 and are summarised below:
	20.	One school suggested it would be better to finish the autumn term on 19 December 2025, and then to finish the academic year on Monday 20 July 2026, which would reduce the length of the summer term and reduce exhaustion. Another school commented on the early start to the academic year on each of the proposed years and raised the impact of partial weeks on attendance. A further school commented on the start date of the autumn term in September 2025 creating a very long first half term. It was suggested that the term could start two days later on 3 September 2025 and then conclude two days later on 19 December 2025.
	21.	Regarding the first response, the impact of a long academic year in the summer was acknowledged, and it was agreed that most schools would use a standalone Monday before the summer holidays as an inset day. However, there was concern about increasing what was already a very long autumn term, alongside worries about attendance should a school choose not to have an inset day on the Monday before the summer holidays.
	22.	Regarding the second response, it was acknowledged that each proposed calendar started on September 1, but no summer holidays were shorter in length than 5 weeks and 3 days, and there was potential that by starting the autumn term later, the summer term would finish very late in July. It was noted that partial weeks are inevitable during the school year due to bank holidays, and the requirement to have 195 school days.
	23.	Regarding the third response, the autumn term is the longest term each year and it was acknowledged that eight weeks is a long half term to start. This adjusted proposal would lead to a summer holiday in 2025 of six weeks in length, and a late finish before the Christmas holidays, but the merit in the proposal was acknowledged. The school also commented on the short spring 2 term in 2027 being only four weeks and four days long, and the impact this had on GCSE preparation, but agreed that this was due to Easter being so early in 2027.
	24.	Therefore, all comments were considered, and it was proposed that the school year calendar be adjusted for the 2025/26 academic year from that proposed in the consultation. The effect of this would be that the autumn term starts later on Wednesday 3 September 2025 and concludes later on Friday 19 December 2025, which would reduce the first half of the autumn term and provide a better balance for staff and pupils during that term. The two schools who responded with differing views were contacted for their view on this adjustment and they agreed that this provided a better balance for staff and pupils in the 2025 autumn term. The other proposed term dates issued as part of the consultation have not been adjusted as it was considered that they continued to provide the best balance overall.
	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	25.	The decision for this report is to confirm the calendar that will apply to the School Years 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28. It applies the usual restrictions of 195 days for teacher attendance and 190 days of pupil attendance (380 sessions in the school year). The carbon mitigation tool and/or climate change adaptation tool was not applicable because the decision to be made is strategic/administrative in nature.
	Conclusions
	26.	The proposed patterns, in Appendix 2, with the amendment to the 2025/26 calendar, as outlined in section 15, are recommended to the Executive Member for Education as accepted by the schools and best meeting the requirements that are applied to designing the school year for 2025/26, 2026/27 and 2027/28.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:
	The school year will apply to all voluntary controlled and community schools. It will form the basis for the school year in Hampshire academies, foundation, and voluntary aided schools (which are able to set their own school year). It is also utilised by sixth form providers. The setting of the school year has a neutral impact for all the protected characteristic groups and other policy consideration groups.




